UNDERSTANDING HOW INDUCED LUTEOLYSIS IN DAIRY CATTLE AFFECT CORPORA LUTEA CHARACTERISTICS AND FERTILITY

By

Thainá Minela

A THESIS

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Animal Science – Master of Science

2020

ABSTRACT

UNDERSTANDING HOW INDUCED LUTEOLYSIS IN DAIRY CATTLE AFFECT CORPORA LUTEA CHARACTERISTICS AND FERTILITY

By

Thainá Minela

Efficient manipulation of estrous cycle via exogenous treatments is critical for fertility in dairy cows following timed artificial insemination (TAI) programs. Luteolysis is a key event that warrants reproductive success in manipulated estrous cycles. The main objective of this thesis was to characterize luteolysis following different doses of cloprostenol sodium (CLO) and its effects on luteal blood flow (LBF) and fertility of lactating dairy cows. The first objective was to determine the effect of luteolytic and sub-luteolytic doses of CLO in dairy heifers with an early and mid-cycle corpus luteum (CL). Measurement of LBF was indicative of complete, and partial luteolysis following various doses of CLO. Heifers receiving multiple doses of CLO had complete disappearance of LBF 4 d post-treatment. The second objective was to assess the effects of different CLO dose strategies during TAI programs on pregnancy rates per AI (PR/AI) in lactating dairy cows. We also aimed to verify the association between LBF around TAI with PR/AI in cows that had a d 7 and 14 CL. Cows were treated with a single full dose, two full doses 24 h apart or a double dose of CLO. There was no evidence of differences in PR/AI between CLO doses. But, 3rd+ parity cows treated with a single full dose of CLO had greater pregnancy loss form d 24 to 34 post-AI. Treatment with double dose of CLO resulted in similar PR/AI independent on synchronization status. Amount of LBF at 2 and 4 d post-treatment was a predictor of PR/AI 34 d post-AI. Cows with decreased LBF of both d 7 and 14 CL below a median cutoff had greater PR/AI 24 d post-AI. Multiparous cows treated with double doses of CLO avoided lower fertility in nonsynchronized cows and greater pregnancy losses compared to cows treated with a single full dose.

Someone once told me he would teach me all about dairy cattle. Here I am trying to learn everything you could not teach me. I dedicate this thesis for you, Ivan.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

At a random day of 2012 I went to work as an intern of Embryolab. I thought would be just another ordinary day of my life. There was this fuzz about a very important man coming to visit the laboratory. "The creator of Ovsynch", they called him. I was at my second semester of college and the estrous cycle of cows was something I could not understand just yet. I had no idea what Ovsynch was. So, the name "Pursley" just went over my head. This important man was very kind with everyone and even asked my name and how to spell it. Neither one of us could imagine that was the first out of countless times he would be saying "Thainá". It turned out that day was not as ordinary as I expected. It was the day I first met my future mentor, Dr. Pursley. I am grateful for coincidences and unexpected events. I am grateful that I got to have you as my advisor years after first meeting you. Thank you for being so supportive, patient and kind. You made this possible.

To my coworkers Alisson, Emily, Emmy, Jenna, Megan, Dr. Lilian, and Dr. Bob. You were essential for me to keep going. You gave me smiles, hugs, food, and assertive words when all I could say was "I am tired" or "I do not want to do this". Moments we spent together freezing at the barn or drinking coffee at the office were my favorites. Sometimes people say, "I could not have done this without you". Well, that is true, and I mean it. I could not have done this without you. Thank you for your unconditional friendship and help.

During my all my life there were two people that kept pushing me forward. They are the drivers that lead me here. Since I was very young, I heard them saying that education could take me anywhere. They told me that through education I could be whoever I wanted to be. Those words never sounded empty to me. I saw with my own eyes where education and hard work took them. And that is why I am here: because of your unconditional support, love, and role model. Mom and dad, thank you for believing in me and making me dream beyond my reality.

Ana, you were always the one I chased after. Literally, when you walked too fast and I had to run to keep up with you. And figuratively since I always wanted to be like you. I wanted to be smart like you. I wanted to be cool like you always were. I wanted to become someone that could walk side-by-side with you. And I am still working on it. Thank you for being such an inspiration for me.

To Steve and Eileen, my eternal gratitude. You offered me a place in your family. You made me feel like I was at home, being 5,422 miles away from home. You certainly made the tough days a lot easier. Thank you for being my American mom and dad.

I would like to thank Dr. Angel Abuelo, Dr. Jose Cibelli and Dr. Robert Tempelman for serving on my committee. Your contributions and time dedicated towards my master's program were immensely appreciated. Your guidance was essential.

Collecting data on 900+ cows is always a difficult task. Yet, I am sure doing it at Nobis Dairy Farm (St. Johns, MI) made it a lot easier for me. Working with Ken, Kerry and Nobis staff was a privilege. Thank you for always supporting our research and allowing us the use of your cows. This project was only possible due to Michigan Alliance for Animal Agriculture financial support. Thanks to Parnell Animal Health (Overland Park, KS) for donating the GONAbreed and estroPLAN used during this project. A special thanks to all the interns that helped with data collection and had to put up with me and my loud music.

LIST OF TABLES		
LIST OF FIGURES	ix	
KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS	xi	
CHAPTER 1	1	
REVIEW: BLOOD FLOW IN THE BOVINE CORPUS LUTEUM BEFORE AND		
DURING LUTEAL REGRESSION	1	
INTRODUCTION	2	
INTERACTION BETWEEN NERVOUS AND REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEMS	2	
CORPUS LUTEUM DEVELOPMENT DURING THE ESTROUS CYCLE OF		
COWS	6	
LUTEOLYSIS: A BLOOD FLOW MEDIATED EVENT	10	
COLOR DOPPLER ULTRASOUND AS A TOOL TO UNDERSTAND		
LUTEOLYSIS	13	
CHAPTER 2	16	
EFFECT OF CLOPROSTENOL DOSE ON LUTEAL BLOOD FLOW AND LUTEAL	10	
VOLUME MEASUREMENTS IN EARLY AND MID-CYCLE CORPORA LUTEA	16	
INTRODUCTION	17	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	18	
Experimental units	18	
Treatments	19	
Illtrasonography – ovulation and CL volume determination	20	
Ultrasonography – luteal blood flow determination	21	
Progesterone Analyses	21	
Statistical Analyses	21	
RESULTS	$\frac{-1}{23}$	
Complete luteal regression determination	25	
Control groups: INDIVIDUAL LV and LBF parameters	27	
Negative controls	27	
Positive controls	$\frac{2}{27}$	
Farly-cycle CL: effect of CLO dose on LV and LRF	$\frac{27}{29}$	
Mid-cycle CL: effect of CLO dose on LV and LBF	30	
Treatment effects on serum P_4 levels	33	
DISCUSSION	34	
	20	
UNATIENS	39	
KEVIEW: CONTROLLING HORMONAL INTERACTIONS TO ENHANCE	20	
INTRODUCTION	39 40	
	40	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

HISTORY OF EXOGENOUS PGF2a USAGE IN ESTROUS CYCLE	
MANIPULATION	41
SYNCHRONIZATION OF OVULATION – OVSYNCH	44
THE NEXT LEVEL OF OVSYNCH: PRE-SYNCHRONIZATION PROGRAMS	46
STRATEGIES TO ENHANCE PR/AI IN LACTATING DAIRY COWS	
RECEIVING TAI	49
STRATEGIES TO IMPROVE LUTEOLYSIS RATES	51
CHAPTER 4	54
THE EFFECT OF A DOUBLE DOSE OF CLOPROSTENOL SODIUM ON LUTEAL	
BLOOD FLOW AND PREGNANCY RATES PER AI IN LACTATING DAIRY COWS	54
INTRODUCTION	55
MATERIALS AND METHODS	56
Experimental Units	56
Treatments	57
Pregnancy Diagnoses	58
<i>Ultrasonography – ovulation, follicle size and luteal volume determination</i>	59
Ultrasonography – luteal blood flow determination	60
Statistical Analyses	61
RESULTS	62
Main effects of treatment on pregnancy rate per AI and pregnancy loss	62
Ovulation to GnRH treatments during DO and GGPG	65
Effect of treatment on combined LV reduction	67
Effect of treatment on combined LBF reduction	68
Luteal blood flow disappearance as a predictor of pregnancy	69
Luteal blood flow amount and PSPB levels as predictors of pregnancy loss	70
DISCUSSION	70
DEFEDENCES	-
KEFEKENCES	/8

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1. Effect of treating lactating dairy cows with either with FULL (0.5 mg), TWO/24 (2 injections of 0.5 mg 24 h apart), or DOUBLE (1.0 mg) dose of cloprostenol sodium at final PGF_{2α} of Double Ovsynch for 1st AI (n = 554) or GGPG for 2nd and 3rd AI (n = 410) on overall pregnancy rates per AI at 24, 34, and 62 d post-AI. *P*-value refers to the fixed effect of treatment....... 63

Table 4.4. Effect of treating lactating dairy cows with either FULL (0.5 mg), TWO/24 (2 injections of 0.5 mg 24 h apart), or DOUBLE (1.0 mg) dose of cloprostenol sodium at final PGF_{2 α} of Double-Ovsynch for 1st AI and GGPG for 2nd and 3rd AI that were synchronized with at least one d 7 and one d 14 CL at time of treatment, or not synchronized, on pregnancy rates per AI at 24, 34, and 62 d post-AI.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Description of the synchronization method utilizing cloprostenol sodium (CLO) and gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) to ensure the presence of an early (d 4) and mid-cycle (d 10) CL at time of treatments (d 0) with different doses of CLO to allow for variation in luteolytic responses. *Thirty-seven heifers responded to the GnRH administration and had a d 4 and a d 10 CL at d 0. Those heifers were then randomly assigned to one of the 5 treatment groups at d 0.

Figure 2.4. The effect of $\frac{1}{4}$ (A), $\frac{1}{2}$ (B) and full (C) doses of cloprostenol sodium (CLO) on earlycycle (d 4) INDIVIDUAL LBF (pixel number) in breeding age Holstein heifers compared to negative (no CLO) and positive (four doses 0.5 mg CLO 24 h between each dose) controls. Heifers shown separately based on outcome of treatment on d 10 CL. Treatments sharing different letter superscripts inside the dotted lines differed significantly within that d (P < 0.05; Tukey-Kramer).

Figure 2.6. The effect of $\frac{1}{4}$ (A), $\frac{1}{2}$ (B) and full (C) doses of cloprostenol sodium (CLO) on midcycle (d 10) INDIVIDUAL LBF (pixel number) in breeding age Holstein heifers compared to negative (no CLO) and positive (four doses 0.5 mg CLO 24 h between each dose) controls. Heifers shown separately based on outcome of treatment on d 10 CL. Treatments sharing different letter superscripts inside the dotted lines differed significantly within that d (P < 0.05; Tukey-Kramer).

Figure 2.7. The effect of treating breeding age Holstein heifers with early (d 4) and mid-cycle (d 10) CL with different luteolytic doses of cloprostenol sodium (CLO) compared to negative (no

KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS

AI	artificial insemination
Ang II	angiotensin II
ANPT-1	angiopoietin-1
ANPT-2	angiopoietin-2
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor
CD	color Doppler
CI	confidence interval
CL	corpus luteum
CLO	cloprostenol sodium
CV	coefficient of variation
d	day/days
D	diameter
DF	dominant follicle
DIM	days in milk
DIN	dinoprost tromethamine
DO	double-Ovsynch
E ₂	estrogen
EDN1	endothelin 1
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ER	estrogen receptor
FGF	fibroblast growth factor

FSH	follicle stimulating hormone
G	gonadotropin releasing hormone
GnRH	gonadotropin releasing hormone
h	hour/hours
hCG	human chorionic gonadotropin
IFNγ	interferon gamma
LBF	luteal blood flow
LH	luteinizing hormone
LV	luteal volume
mg	milligram
μg	micrograms
mL	milliliter
mm	millimeters
μm	micrometers
mm ³	millimeters cubed
mRNA	messanger RNA
NC	negative control
ng	nanogram
NO	nitric oxide
OXTR	oxytocin receptor
P 4	progesterone
PC	positive control
PG	prostaglandin- $F_{2\alpha}$

PGE ₂	prostaglandin-E ₂
PGF _{2a}	$prostaglandin-F_{2\alpha}$
PGFM	prostaglandin- $F_{2\alpha}$ metabolite
PR	progesterone receptor
PR/AI	pregnancy rates per artificial insemination
PSPB	pregnancy specific protein B
R	radius
RIA	radioimmunoassay
SEM	standard error of the mean
SNAP	S-Nitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine
TAI	timed artificial insemination
TMR	total mixed ration
TNFα	tumor necrosis factor alpha
US	ultrasound
V	volume
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
vs	versus

CHAPTER 1

REVIEW: BLOOD FLOW IN THE BOVINE CORPUS LUTEUM BEFORE AND DURING LUTEAL REGRESSION

INTRODUCTION

Physiological events in cattle reproduction are synchronously coordinated with emergence and disappearance of two main structures, the follicle, and the corpus luteum (CL). These structures are dynamically orchestrated via hypothalamic-pituitary axis, gonads, and uteri of cattle (Moore and Price, 1932; Hansel et al., 1975; Fink, 1979; McCracken, 1980; Schallenberger et al., 1985). Follicles emerge and grow in a wave-like pattern until ovulation and release of the oocyte (Savio et al., 1988; Ginther et al., 1989). A transient secretory gland forms from the remaining cells of the ovulated follicle (Reynolds et al., 1994). A combination of tissue remodeling, cell differentiation and intense angiogenesis during and after ovulation establish the CL (Acosta et al., 2003; Miyamoto et al., 2009). Follicles and CL interact via hormonal positive and negative feedbacks (Wathes et al., 1996; Robinson et al., 2001). The respective products from their secretion are estrogen (E₂) and progesterone (P₄), both derived from cholesterol (Veler et al., 1930; Slotta et al., 1934; Bert and Schrader, 1976). Ovulation precedes, and is requisite for, CL formation. Whereas CL regression, or luteolysis, precedes ovulation. These two main events occur cyclically. Granulosa and theca interna cells that secrete E₂ and androgens in the follicle will differentiate into large and small luteal cells and secrete P₄ once the CL forms (Meidan et al., 1990; Reynolds et al., 1994). This "cellular recycling" occurs every ~21 d in non-pregnant cycling cattle and it is named the estrous cycle. This chapter begins with a brief overview of the estrous cycle in the dairy cow. It will focus on physiology and morphology of the CL throughout the cycle. The role of luteal blood flow (LBF) as a marker of CL function is also described in detail.

INTERACTION BETWEEN NERVOUS AND REPRODUCTIVE SYSTEMS

The cow's estrous cycle is controlled via hormonal interactions. There are three sources of stimuli that dictate the fate of follicles and CL. Hormones secreted by the hypothalamus-pituitary

axis, gonads and uteri of cows interact via positive and negative feedbacks (Moore and Price, 1932; Hansel et al., 1975; Fink, 1979; McCracken, 1980; Schallenberger et al., 1985). These interactions lead into physiological events such as follicular waves, follicle development, estrus, ovulation, CL formation and luteolysis (Schams et al., 1977; Mccracken et al., 1999; Mihm et al., 2002; Boer et al., 2010).

The primary stimulus is the release of gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH or G) from the hypothalamus (Fink, 1979). Gonadotropin releasing hormone is a decapeptide hormone that stimulates the release of follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) from the anterior pituitary (Kaltenbach et al., 1974). Low frequency GnRH pulses are responsible for FSH secretion (Schallenberger et al., 1985; McNeilly, 1988; Bernard et al., 2010). High frequency pulses of GnRH are responsible for LH secretion (Rahe et al., 1980; Schallenberger et al., 1985). Follicle stimulating hormone and LH are also defined as gonadotrophic hormones, and therefore act as stimulators of the gonads (ovaries). Follicle stimulating hormone mediates the recruitment, growth, and maturation of primary follicles into secondary antral follicles (Greenwald, 1973; Mihm et al., 2002). Growth of antral follicles are dependent on FSH before acquisition of LH receptors during deviation of the dominant follicle (Ginther, 2000; Sartori et al., 2001). Low amplitude pulses of LH are the primary driver of follicular growth post-deviation (Sartori et al., 2001; Mihm et al., 2006). Luteinizing hormone mediates final maturation and growth of preovulatory follicles (Ginther et al., 1998; Wiltbank et al., 2011a). A fully developed follicle may or may not ovulate depending on stage of the estrous cycle (Rahe et al., 1980; Walters and Schallenberger, 1984; Schallenberger et al., 1985).

Steroid hormones secreted in the ovaries (E_2 and P_4) are the second source of hormonal control of the estrous cycle. Steroid hormones are only secreted when the primary gonadotrophic

3

stimulus successfully induced follicular development and consequently the presence of a CL. Steroid hormones can both suppress or enhance hormonal release from the hypothalamus-pituitary axis depending on stage of estrous cycle (Beck et al., 1976; Baird and McNeilly, 1981; Ireland and Roche, 1982). Developing follicles secrete E_2 and inhibin that proportionally increase in circulation as follicular size increases (Hopko Ireland and Ireland, 1994; Bernard et al., 2010). In combination, E₂ and inhibin have a negative feedback on FSH release from the pituitary (McNeilly, 1988; Savio et al., 1988; Lucy et al., 1992). Subordinate follicles become attetic and a follicular wave does not emerge without a new surge of FSH (Pursley et al., 1993). The negative feedback of E_2 and inhibin persists until atresia or ovulation of the dominant follicle (Savio et al., 1993; Hopko Ireland and Ireland, 1994). A high amplitude LH surge causes ovulation near the onset of estrus (Chenault et al., 1975; Schallenberger et al., 1984, 1985; Walters and Schallenberger, 1984). But this event is dependent on certain hormonal scenarios. In nonmanipulated estrous cycle, the LH surge occurs following a peak in circulating E₂ (Chenault et al., 1975; Schams et al., 1977; Schallenberger et al., 1985). Both the LH surge and E₂ peak only occur under low levels of P₄ (Louis et al., 1972; Chenault et al., 1975; Walters and Schallenberger, 1984). The CL develops rapidly post-ovulation and acquires P₄ secretory abilities around d 2 or 3 of the cycle concomitantly with a new wave of follicles (Miyamoto et al., 2009). Progesterone negative feedback occurs in the hypothalamic level by decreasing the amplitude of GnRH pulses (Roberson et al., 1989). The ultimate effect of high P₄ during the cycle is the decrease of LH pulsatility (Beck et al., 1976; Ireland and Roche, 1982; Roberson et al., 1989). Progesterone increases its circulating levels up until d 14 of the cycle in non-pregnant cows (Schams et al., 1977; Schallenberger et al., 1985; Sartori et al., 2004; Skarzynski et al., 2013). Luteolysis occurs in response to the third level of hormonal control in the cow: the uterus (Nancarrow et al., 1973).

Luteolysis is a programmed event that occurs in non-pregnant cows around d 17 - 18 of the cycle (Mcracken et al., 1999). It is induced via prostaglandin- $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2 α} or PG) either from the endometrium or in an exogenous form (McCracken et al., 1970; Hansel et al., 1975; Peterson et al., 1975; Shemesh and Hansel, 1975). The primary stimulus for $PGF_{2\alpha}$ release from the endometrium is the local binding of oxytocin to its receptor (OXTR; Armstrong and Hansel, 1959; McCracken, 1980; Walters and Schallenberger, 1984). In the sheep, mechanical stimulation of uterus caused a greater release of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ at d 14 of the cycle in comparison to d 3, 8, and 11 through 13. Release of PGF_{2a} coincided with OXTR expression, whereas non-detectable PGF_{2a} coincided with the lack of OXTR expression (McCracken, 1980). Steroid hormones are indirect regulators of PGF_{2 α} release by altering OXTR expression in the endometrium. Binding of P₄ to its receptor (PR) inhibits the expression of endometrium OXTR (Grazzini et al., 1998). On the contrary, binding of E₂ to its receptor (ER) in the uterine endometrium upregulates the expression of OXTR (Mccracken et al., 1999; Robinson et al., 2001). Expression of ER and PR are upregulated in response to E_2 . Contrarily, ER in the uterus are downregulated by P₄ (Wathes et al., 1996). Additionally, long exposure to high P₄ levels eventually leads to downregulation of endometrium PR expression (Milgrom et al., 1973; Garret et al., 1988; Wathes et al., 1996). The downregulation of PR along with increasing levels of E₂ during late cycle culminates in ER upregulation (Leavitt et al., 1985; Okumu et al., 2010). Consequently, OXTR is expressed in the uterus resulting in $PGF_{2\alpha}$ release (Armstrong and Hansel, 1959; McCracken et al., 1973). Around d 18 of the cycle $PGF_{2\alpha}$ is released in 4 to 5 peaks that start the luteolytic cascade (Nancarrow et al., 1973; Peterson et al., 1975; Kindahl et al., 1976).

This series of synchronous hormonal interactions lead to cyclic events in cows. Commonly, the "classical" length is defined as a 21-d estrous cycle. In fact, some early studies reported an

exact average cycle of 21 d (Garret et al., 1988; Sirois and Fortune, 1990). However, more recent studies showed an increased average of 22.9 d in non-pregnant lactating dairy cows and 22 d in dairy heifers (Sartori et al., 2004). Each level of reproductive control has an impact onto the next level creating interdependent mechanisms. The clarification of such complex interactions allowed for exogenous control of the estrous cycle. Elucidation of main events occurring during the estrous cycle were the basis to develop every assisted reproduction technology in cattle (Thatcher, 2017). Causing ovulation and timely regressing CL are the main strategies for external estrous cycle manipulation (Stevenson, 2016). Chapter 3 will discuss both strategies in detail. In advance, each of these approaches are time sensitive, mostly when it comes to manipulation of CL lifespan.

CORPUS LUTEUM DEVELOPMENT DURING THE ESTROUS CYCLE OF COWS

The CL can be defined as a fast-developing transitory gland with high metabolic rate (Wiltbank et al., 1988). In fact, it develops in comparable rates of the most fast-growing tumors (Reynolds et al., 1994). Its aggressive development is accompanied by acquisition of secretory properties early following ovulation (Miyamoto et al., 2009). Luteal tissue is structured with steroidogenic and non-steroidogenic cells (O'Shea et al., 1979; Alila and Hansel, 1984). Steroidogenic cells are classified accordingly with their size within small (< 20 μ m) and large luteal cells (20 – 30 μ m) (O'Shea et al., 1979; Alila and Hansel, 1984; Farin et al., 1986). As mentioned, steroidogenic luteal cells are follicular-derived cells that were luteinized during and after ovulation. Small luteal cells derive from theca interna and large luteal cells origin from granulosa cells (Meidan et al., 1990; Reynolds et al., 1994). Small luteal cells increase their number and maintain constant size during the estrous cycle. Large luteal cells keep their number constant but reduce their size as the cycle advances (Farin et al., 1986). The majority of cell proliferation in the CL is from vascular origin (50 – 85%). Non-steroidogenic cells represent 50 – 70% of all

cells in a mature CL (Farin et al., 1986). Endothelial cells and pericytes constitute the CL vascular bedframe (O'Shea et al., 1979). Active endothelial cell proliferation is present in around 40% of all luteal microvessels (Augustin, 2005). Each luteal cell is in contact with one or more capillaries (Wiltbank et al., 1988). Successful establishment of luteal vascularization plays an important role in secreting P₄. Blood inflow delivers hormonal precursors and gonadotropins that are essential for CL functionality whereas blood outflow delivers P₄ into the main circulation (Janson et al., 1981; Meidan et al., 2005; Shirasuna et al., 2010).

The establishment of LBF occurs in response to angiogenic and vasoactive factors secreted locally (Miyamoto et al., 2009). An intense angiogenic process takes place post-ovulation (Acosta et al., 2003). In fact, many regulators of vascular function produced in the early CL are already being produced around ovulation (Berisha et al., 2016). Vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) stimulate mitogenic activity of endothelial cells, regulate angiogenesis process and vascular permeability (Berisha et al., 2002). Fibroblast growth factors (FGFs), mostly basic FGF (bFGF), work as inducers of cellular growth, migration, and differentiation (Stirling et al., 1991; Augustin, 2000; Okada-Ban et al., 2000). Vascular endothelial growth factors and bFGF seem to act synergistically to construct the CL vascular system (Reynolds et al., 2000; Miyamoto et al., 2009). Angiopoietin-1 and -2 (ANPT-1 and ANPT-2) are involved with vascular stability (Yancopoulos et al., 2000). Angiopoietin-1 grants stability to formed blood vessels. Angiopoietin-2 antagonizes ANPT-1 by inducing active remodeling of endothelial cells and consequently destabilization of CL vascular system (Yancopoulos et al., 2000). Destabilization of blood vessels is a pre-requirement for either their formation or regression (Hanahan, 1997; Miyamoto et al., 2009). However, the fate of destabilized vascular network depends on VEGFs levels. When VEGF levels are high in the presence of destabilized blood vessels the result is formation of new vascular

network. In similar conditions, but under low levels of VEGF the result is regression of that vascular system (Hanahan, 1997).

Vasoactive substances play important role in controlling LBF dynamics (Miyamoto et al., 2009; Berisha et al., 2016). Endothelin 1 (EDN1) induces vasoconstriction or vasodilation depending in which receptor it activates (Berisha et al., 2002). Angiotensin II (Ang II) is another powerful vasoconstrictor (Berisha et al., 2002; Miyamoto et al., 2009). Opposing EDN1 and Ang II, nitric oxide (NO) induces vasodilation within the CL (Miyamoto et al., 2009). Finally, prostaglandins (PGF_{2a} and PGE₂) also incite hemodynamic changes within the CL. Prostaglandin- F_{2a} is produced in the uterus or within the CL, whereas PGE₂ is released by the CL (Milvae and Hansel, 1983; Miyamoto et al., 1993).

There are differences in expression and response to angiogenic and vasoactive factors in early, mid, and late cycle CL (Reynolds et al., 2000; Miyamoto et al., 2009; Berisha et al., 2016). Yet, LBF development results from their combined expressions and interactions (Klagsbrun and D'Amore, 1991). As a transitory gland, the CL rises up to its top secretory activity just before undergoing regression (Kindahl et al., 1976; Skarzynski et al., 2013). Luteolysis depends on synergic action of the same factors that create the CL and its vascular network. These factors also are involved with P₄ secretion along with their role in establishing a vascular bedframe within the CL.

In the early stages of luteal development VEGF and bFGF are abundant (Zheng et al., 1993; Reynolds and Redmer, 1998; Berisha et al., 2000, 2016). There is evidence that VEGF and bFGF combined stimulate P₄ secretion (Miyamoto et al., 1992; Kobayashi et al., 2001). Luteal tissue development measured as luteal volume (LV) and luteal function (P₄ levels) decreased when antibodies for VEGF and bFGF were directly injected in early-cycle CL (Yamashita et al., 2008).

8

This treatment also decreased mRNA for VEGF and bFGF and ANPT-1 and -2. These findings suggest that VEGF, bFGF and ANPTs modulate their expression and act together to develop the CL, but also to regulate P₄ secretion. Prostaglandin- $F_{2\alpha}$ expression peaks during the early stages of CL development (Milvae and Hansel, 1983). Levels of PGF_{2α} are higher early in comparison to mid-cycle micro-dialyzed CL (Kobayashi et al., 2001). Progesterone release was enhanced in PGF_{2α} treated early-cycle CL and luteinized granulosa cells (Conley and Ford, 1989; Miyamoto et al., 1993; Okuda et al., 1998; Kobayashi et al., 2001). Controversially, the main inducer of luteolysis does play important role in P₄ release during early cycle. Consequently, the early-cycle CL (d 0 to 4 of the estrous cycle) is refractory to exogenous PGF_{2α} luteolytic effects (Tsai and Wiltbank, 1998). Angiogenesis and the understanding of blood flow in the CL played a critical role in Chapter 2 regarding the use of color Doppler ultrasound to characterize outcomes of treating heifers that had two distinctly different levels of CL maturity with various doses of PGF_{2α}.

Exogenous or endogenous PGF_{2a} may start the luteolytic cascade later than d 4 of the cycle and lead to functional and morphological regression (Wiltbank et al., 1995; Tsai and Wiltbank, 1998). The mid-cycle CL is a stable construct of steroidogenic and non-steroidogenic cells (Alila and Hansel, 1984). Angiogenic factors are downregulated and there is few, or none tissue remodeling (Berisha et al., 2000; Nio-Kobayashi et al., 2016). The mid-cycle (d 10 to 14) period coincides with the highest release of P₄ (Sartori et al., 2004). Mid-cycle LBF around the CL is intense and highly correlated with P₄ (Herzog et al., 2010). In point of fact, a mature CL is one of the most irrigated organs, with the greatest blood flow per tissue unit (Janson and Albrecht, 1975). High circulating P₄ levels secretion precedes the onset of luteolysis around d 17 – 18 (Schams et al., 1977). The luteolytic cascade is a complex process with changes in expression and interaction of vasoactive substances. The final outcome of luteolysis is functional and morphological regression of the CL (Mccracken et al., 1999).

LUTEOLYSIS: A BLOOD FLOW MEDIATED EVENT

During non-manipulated estrous cycle innumerous conditions and factors act synergistically to cause luteal regression. Efficient induction of luteolysis via exogenous PGF_{2a} depends mostly on d of the estrous cycle. The CL becomes responsive to PGF_{2a} around d 5 of the estrous cycle (Wiltbank et al., 1995; Tsai and Wiltbank, 1998). Ginther et al., (2009) also demonstrated that occurrence of physiological complete luteal regression requires a pulsatile pattern of PGF_{2a} treatments. Luteal blood flow function becomes opposite during late cycle in comparison to early cycle. Luteal blood flow enhances cellular development and functionality in the early-cycle CL, but contributes to luteolysis in the late cycle CL. Changes in luteal hemodynamics and expression of vasoactive substances are primary markers of luteolysis (Miyamoto and Shirasuna, 2009). During endogenous luteolysis there was drastic decrease in ovarian blood flow ipsilateral to the CL. This decrease was accompanied with simultaneous decreasing levels of P4 (Niswender et al., 1976; Ford and Chenault, 1981).

However, an acute peripheral increase in LBF was identified at the onset of luteolysis (Acosta et al., 2002; Miyamoto et al., 2005; Ginther et al., 2007). The increase in LBF was verified 0.5 to 2 h after exogenous PGF_{2a} administration and restricted to the periphery of the CL (Acosta et al., 2002). During non-manipulated cycles, LBF increased simultaneously with prostaglandin- F_{2a} metabolite (PGFM) peaks (Miyamoto et al., 2005; Ginther et al., 2007). Increase in LBF occurred in mid-cycle CL (d 10), but not in the early-cycle CL (d 4) (Acosta et al., 2002). Similar results were obtained during the experiment described in Chapter 2. Prostaglandin- F_{2a} induced an increase in LBF in the mid-cycle but not the early-cycle CL measured 1-h post-treatment. This

increase was induced following three different doses of PGF_{2a} . Many studies focused on NO as the causing substance of LBF acute increase in the mature CL (Shirasuna et al., 2008). Nitric oxide induces apoptosis of bovine luteal cells and decreases P₄ secretion *in vitro* (Skarzynski et al., 2000, 2003). Local administration of a NO donor, S-nitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine (SNAP), induced a similar increase in LBF (Skarzynski et al., 2000). Treatment with SNAP also resulted in luteolysis-like effects in the CL. Cows that received a NO donor decreased P₄ levels below 1 ng/mL 3 d earlier in comparison to control cows. Luteal volume was reduced and inter-estrus intervals was shortened (Skarzynski et al., 2000). The inhibition of NO synthesis had CL protective effects. Disruption of NO pathway countered PGF_{2a} -induced luteolysis and prolonged CL lifespan (Skarzynski et al., 2003). It was then proposed that the LBF increase mediated via NO is one of the luteolysis bottlenecks (Miyamoto et al., 2009).

Exogenous treatment or endometrium $PGF_{2\alpha}$ release changes the role of vasoactive substances in the CL. The combined action of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ and other substances creates pathways that lead to apoptosis and angiolysis in the regressing CL (Miyamoto et al., 2009). Such substances are produced in the CL, but also in endothelial cells that compose CL's vast vascular bedframe. In fact, endothelial cells are the first cells to go through apoptosis during luteolysis (Vonnahme et al., 2006). Vasoconstrictor factors such as EDN1 and Ang II are upregulated upon $PGF_{2\alpha}$ stimulus *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Girsh et al., 1996; Miyamoto et al., 1997; Ohtani et al., 1998; Hayashi and Miyamoto, 1999). Individually, EDN1 and Ang II also inhibit P₄ release from cultured luteal cells (Stirling et al., 1990; Miyamoto et al., 1997). In response to $PGF_{2\alpha}$ EDN1 and Ang II increase their expression within the CL periphery (Miyamoto et al., 2009). Endothelin 1 and Ang II positively feedback into luteal $PGF_{2\alpha}$ release (Kobayashi et al., 2001; Miceli et al., 2015). The primary stimulus of exogenous or endometrium $PGF_{2\alpha}$ commences a cycle of positive feedback between luteal PGF_{2α}, EDN-1 and Ang II within the CL (Shirasuna et al., 2004). The result is decrease in LBF via vasoconstriction of periphery blood vessels (Miyamoto et al., 2009). Apoptosis pathways are induced by PGF_{2α}, but not luteal oxytocin (Shaw and Britt, 2000). Prostaglandin-F_{2α} activates protein kinase C and Ca⁺² influx leading to luteal cells apoptosis (Wiltbank et al., 1989, 1991; Hansel et al., 1991; Wegner et al., 1991). Another effect of PGF_{2α} is the inhibition of VEGFs (Neuvians et al., 2004a). As mentioned previously, protein levels of VEGFs coordinate the fate of blood vessels in the presence of ANTPs. Protein levels of ANTP-2 remain constant throughout the cycle, whereas ANTP-1 decreases in the regressing CL (Tanaka et al., 2004). With the concomitantly decrease in ANTP-1 and VEGFs, ANTP-2 effects are no longer opposed or counteracted. Blood vessels undergo angiolysis leading to low luteal blood supply during regression (Miyamoto et al., 2009).

Other systems also regulate pathways that lead to functional and structural luteolysis. The immunological compartment of the CL also plays important roles during luteolysis. The presence of immune cells in luteal cells culture enhanced PGF_{2a} luteolytic properties, measured as decrease in P₄ levels (Liptak et al., 2005; Korzekwa et al., 2008b). Many studies investigated the role of T lymphocytes, monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, and dendritic cells during luteolysis (Pepperell et al., 1992; Brännström et al., 1994; Penny et al., 1998; Spanel-Borowski, 2011; Shirasuna et al., 2012). Luteal T lymphocytes population changes their cell types, characteristics and increase their numbers during luteal regression (Poole and Pate, 2012). Immune cells increase their number towards late cycle via increased infiltration of the luteal tissue and local proliferation (Bauer et al., 2001). They are involved with tissue remodeling, phagocytosis, and secretion of secondary apoptosis mediators during luteolysis (Pavoola, 1979; Pate, 1995, 2003). Secretion of cytokines tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) and interferon gamma (IFN γ) induce apoptosis of

cultured luteal cells (rev. Pate, 2003). mRNA for IFNγ, TNFα and its receptor increased during luteolysis (Neuvians et al., 2004b; Korzekwa et al., 2008a). Besides signaling cell death pathways, IFNγ and TNFα also stimulated intraluteal PGF_{2α} release (Fairchild and Pate, 1991; Fukuoka et al., 1992; Townson and Pate, 1996). The increase of PGF_{2α} feeds back into other suppressors of luteal function such as EDN-1 and Ang II (Miyamoto et al., 2009). Synthesis of intraluteal PGF_{2α} is essential for carrying out the luteolytic cascade and resulting in tissue involution. Intraluteal inhibition of PGF_{2α} synthesis had effects on maintenance of luteal tissue volume (Niswender et al., 2007). Local inhibition of cytokines synthesis utilizing ciclosporin-A delayed luteal tissue involution (Pate et al., 2012). CL that receive a luteolytic stimulus but do not regress have lower expression of genes that are related with prostaglandin synthesis and immune response (Atli et al., 2012). Pate et al. (2012) proposed that the resistance to PGF_{2α}-induced luteolysis in the early-cycle CL may be due to different immune cell populations, incompatible with the luteolysis process.

All events occurring during CL lifespan are somewhat associated with its vascular network. Luteal blood flow enables interactions that lead to acquisition of secretory properties as well as complete tissue involution. In experimental settings, elaborated designs and techniques can be utilized to assess luteal function and LBF (Janson and Albrecht, 1975). Many of the studies cited so far utilized accurate techniques, such as CL microdialysis, protein and gene expression measurements. Data collected in such studies provided extensive data on substances that regulate CL function and how they interact. *In vitro* studies also helped to identify important factors and their effects on CL function.

COLOR DOPPLER ULTRASOUND AS A TOOL TO UNDERSTAND LUTEOLYSIS

Niswender et al. (1976) implanted Doppler transducers in ovarian arteries to measure changes in ovarian blood flow during estrous cycle. In the same study, ewes were infused with various sizes of radioactive microspheres to estimate the locations where blood inflow was more prevalent in the ovary. However accurate, such techniques are reserved for small studies due to their labor-intensive and complex execution. Even mRNA, protein and hormonal quantification techniques are time-consuming and increase the cost of studies. In studies with large sample sizes, applying such methodologies would be unviable due to labor, time and the high cost associated with it. Therefore, in recent years simpler techniques to measure blood flow were refined and adapted for the CL (Miyazaki et al., 1998; Lüttgenau and Bollwein, 2014). Color Doppler ultrasonography enables the measurement of velocity, direction, and quantity of blood flow in a single vein or artery. The blood flow signals appear in red and blue colors depending on their direction in relation to the ultrasound transducer. Doppler signals going towards the transducer are shown in red, whereas signals going away from the transducer are shown in blue (Feliciano et al., 2003). The technique and calculations applied to measure blood flow in large blood vessels cannot be used in the CL. The CL vascular network is formed with several microcapillaries. It makes impossible to determine the velocity, direction, or quantity of blood flow because it captures signals of several capillaries at the same time. Therefore, this technique was adapted to estimate LBF area utilizing different measurements. The LBF signals are located in CL's periphery (Acosta et al., 2002; Miyamoto et al., 2005). Photos or videos of the greatest LBF area can be analyzed in automated software and provide quantitative data. Some studies reported LBF %, LBF area or the ratio between LBF/LV (Acosta et al., 2002; Ginther et al., 2007; Siqueira et al., 2019). Subjective scores are employed with certain accuracy and can be used as on-farm assessments (Guimarães et al., 2015; Andrade et al., 2019; Palhão et al., 2020).

The vascular network of a functional CL is distinct from a regressing/regressed CL. Luteal blood flow has been characterized during early cycle and luteolysis (Acosta et al., 2002, 2003).

Circulating P₄ levels, LV, and LBF were measured every 24 h from 1 d to 5 d after GnRH injection. All three variables increased synchronously during the first 5 d of CL development (Acosta et al., 2003). Luteal blood flow changes during PGF_{2 α}-induced and endogenous luteolysis were also described. As mentioned previously, a transitory increase in LBF was detected utilizing color Doppler following PGF_{2 α} treatment in mid-cycle CL (Acosta et al., 2002). A bolus treatment of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ analogue also induces a transitory increase in circulating P₄ levels (Shrestha et al., 2010). During luteolysis, LBF seems to decrease in similar rates to circulating P₄ levels (Miyamoto et al., 2005). In the same study, decrease in LV (associated with tissue remodeling and involution) appears to be slightly delayed in relation to decrease in P4. In fact, area of LBF was a better predictor of P_4 levels > 1 ng/mL in comparison to LV (Herzog et al., 2010). Milk or blood P_4 levels determined with enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) or radioimmunoassay (RIA) are still the golden standard to determine luteal function. However, the loss of the most sensitive P_4 assay from the market (Coat-a-Count) left the industry with assay kits that lack sensitivity to determine small changes in P₄ levels. A general cutoff used to confirm CL functionality is $P_4 > 1$ ng/mL (Ginther et al., 2009; Herzog et al., 2010). The cutoff of < 15 mm in diameter is well accepted when utilizing CL size to determine CL regression. There is no consensus regarding to a cutoff for LBF area where luteolysis occurred. That may be due to different methodologies and machines used to estimate LBF with color Doppler. Chapter 2 describes our laboratory's effort on defining guidelines to assess luteolysis based on LBF.

CHAPTER 2

EFFECT OF CLOPROSTENOL DOSE ON LUTEAL BLOOD FLOW AND LUTEAL VOLUME MEASUREMENTS IN EARLY AND MID-CYCLE CORPORA LUTEA

Manuscript will be submitted for publication in Journal of Dairy Science

T. Minela, E. L. Middleton, J. R. Pursley Department of Animal Science Michigan State University

INTRODUCTION

A complex angiogenic process takes place during and after ovulation followed by a gradual increase in both LV and LBF (Reynolds et al., 2000; Acosta et al., 2003; Miyamoto et al., 2009; Berisha et al., 2016). This allows the early CL to produce and release P_4 as part of its normal development (Acosta et al., 2003). Luteal function can be assessed utilizing RIA and ELISA hormonal assays for P_4 . Yet, sensitivity of current P_4 assays lack the ability to assess complete luteolysis. Currently available kits are not accurate enough to detect subtle changes in P_4 levels when concentration is under 1 ng/mL.

Ultrasound with color Doppler can estimate LBF and LV as a real time assessment of CL function and may provide an alternative way of assessing luteolysis. These parameters are highly correlated with P_4 concentrations during the estrous cycle. However, LBF appears to be a better predictor of $P_4 > 1.0$ ng/mL in comparison to LV. Luteal volume had to exceed 60% of the maximal values, whereas LBF only exceeded 35% of the maximal values to reliably indicate $P_4 > 1.0$ ng/mL (Herzog et al., 2010).

Establishment of a vascular system within the CL is essential for acquisition of secretory properties, but also for luteolysis occurrence. Blood flow delivers steroid precursors and gonadotropins to the CL that allow for P₄ synthesis (Niswender et al., 1976; Janson et al., 1981). Luteal blood flow decreases rapidly during luteolysis and is followed by decreasing levels of P₄ (Niswender et al., 1976). An acute and transitory increase of blood flow occurs after a PGF_{2α} bolus treatment in mid-cycle, but not early-cycle CL. Luteal blood flow decreased significantly 2 d after treatment in mid-cycle CL but increased in early-cycle CL (Acosta et al., 2002). Studies verified that P₄ levels decreased synchronously with LBF in both spontaneous and PGF_{2α} induced luteolysis (Miyamoto et al., 2005; Lüttgenau et al., 2011).

Treatment with analogue drugs of PGF_{2a} result in luteolysis when administered after d 5 of the estrous cycle (Wiltbank et al., 1995; Tsai and Wiltbank, 1998). The early-cycle CL does not undergo luteolysis with a single treatment of PGF_{2a} (Tsai and Wiltbank, 1998). Simultaneous presence of PGF_{2a} responsive and resistant CL provides a scenario to better understand the interactions between these two distinct structures during PGF_{2a}-induced luteolysis. Moreover, when concomitantly present a regressing CL may induce regression of refractory CL following exogenous treatment with PGF_{2a} (Howard and Britt, 1990; Stevenson, 2016).

We designed a non-invasive bioassay to establish the use of real time color Doppler as an indicator of luteolysis using varying doses of cloprostenol sodium (CLO) in early (d 4 CL) and mid-cycle CL (d 10 CL). It was hypothesized that LV and LBF may act as good predictors of luteal function, able to identify different response patterns to CLO treatment. It is also hypothesized that different doses of CLO will differentially impact luteal dynamics in mid-cycle CL, but not in early-cycle CL. Our overall objective was to establish guidelines to assess luteolysis with color Doppler based on control groups outcomes. A secondary objective was to describe long-term effects of the combination of a PGF_{2 α} responsive and a PGF_{2 α} refractory CL at the time of treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Units

This project was conducted from August 2017 to January 2018 on a commercial dairy herd, (Nobis Dairy Farm, St. Johns, Michigan, USA). The farm milked approximately 1,000 lactating cows and raised all replacement heifers. This trial utilized n = 37 11 to 12-month old Holstein heifers in n = 4 cohorts. All heifers were monitored with an activity monitoring system (SCR Heatime Pro+ System, Madison, Wisconsin, USA). They were fed a total mixed ration (TMR) once a d with free access to feed and water and were confined in a free-stall barn. The TMR consisted of corn, wheat, and alfalfa silages, and corn-soybean meal-based concentrates formulated to meet nutrient recommendations for breeding age heifers (NRC, 2001). The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Michigan State University approved all animal handling and procedures.

Treatments

All heifers received a combination of CLO (estroPLAN, Parnell, Overland Park, Kansas, USA) and GnRH (GONAbreed, Parnell, Overland Park, Kansas, USA) to induce the presence of early (d 4) and mid-cycle (d 10) CL on d of treatment (d 0; Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Description of the synchronization method utilizing cloprostenol sodium (CLO) and gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) to ensure the presence of an early (d 4) and mid-cycle (d 10) CL at time of treatments (d 0) with different doses of CLO to allow for variation in luteolytic responses. *Thirty-seven heifers responded to the GnRH administration and had a d 4 and a d 10 CL at d 0. Those heifers were then randomly assigned to one of the 5 treatment groups at d 0.

Criteria based on activity monitoring and ultrasonography data was used to determine responsiveness to hormonal treatments. Only heifers that met the following criteria were included in the study: 1) Estrus on d -10 according to peak activity detected by the activity monitor system;

2) Presence of a dominant follicle (DF) > 10 mm and CL < 15 mm in diameter on d –10; 3) Ovulation to first GnRH on d –4 confirmed by a new CL in same ovary and position as the DF measured on d –10; 4) Presence of a new DF > 10 mm on d –4; and 5) Newly formed CL and the absence of a DF 3 d after last GnRH (d –1). 6) Heifers with only single ovulations were included in the study.

On d of treatment, heifers that met the above criteria were randomly assigned to receive one of five treatments: Negative Control (NC) that consisted of no treatment with CLO (n = 8); ¹/₄ dose CLO (0.125 mg; n = 8); ¹/₂ dose CLO (0.25 mg; n = 8); 1 dose of CLO (0.5 mg; n = 8); or Positive Control (PC) that consisted of the repeated administration of 0.5 mg of CLO four times at 24 h intervals (n = 5; Figure 2.1).

Ultrasonography – ovulation and CL volume determination

Ultrasonography (SonoSite MicroMaxx, 10-5 MHz linear array probe, Bothell, Washington, USA) was used to map ovaries and measure ovarian structures ≥ 4 mm as described in Figure 2.1. Ovaries were scanned three times using the Cine memory function. The Cine memory clip allowed for frame by frame visualization to determine the greatest diameter of any given structure. Diameters was determined utilizing built-in calipers. The first diameter measurement for each structure was horizontal and the second was perpendicular to the 1st measurement. Luteal volume was calculated in mm³ using the formula $V = (4/3) \pi R^3$. Radius (R) was calculated using the formula $R = (D^a / 2 + D^b / 2)/2$. D^a was the horizontal diameter of the CL and D^b was the perpendicular diameter to D^a. Volume of CL with cavities were calculated with the same formula but with the volume of the cavity subtracted from the total volume of the CL.

Ultrasonography – luteal blood flow determination

Assessment utilizing color Doppler was performed at specific times (Figure 2.1) to determine the effect of treatment on LBF of early and mid-cycle CL (Figure 2.1). If a spontaneous ovulation occurred following treatment the new CL, LBF was also recorded. Different sections of each CL were examined utilizing color Doppler. At least three Cine memory frames showing the greatest LBF area were saved for further analyses. Luteal Blood flow area was measured in number of colored pixels. An image editing software (Adobe Photoshop CS3, San Jose, California, USA) was used to select the desired area with a color range selection tool. The method consisted of using an eyedropper tool to select and delete only black, white, and gray tone pixels. The remaining colored pixel area was selected with the same tool and pixel count was determined by the software. The analyses utilized an average of three pictures from the same CL at each assessment (Figure 2.1).

Progesterone Analyses

Blood samples for P_4 were collected on all heifers on d 0 (before and 1 h after treatment), 2, 4, 6, and 8. D 2 samples were missing for one heifer on the 1 dose group, and for two heifers in the NC group. The 1-h sample was missing on one heifer of the PC group. Serum concentrations of P_4 were analyzed with a radioactive immunoassay validated by Engel et al., (2008). All sample concentrations were determined in one assay. The interassay CV was 8.15%, the intraassay CV was 4.84% and the sensitivity was 0.2 ng/mL.

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using SAS (version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina, USA). Serum P₄ concentrations, LV and LBF measurements are reported as mean \pm SEM. Luteal volume and LBF data are reported in three different ways: INDIVIDUAL and

COMBINED. INDIVIDUAL refers to the individual measurement of LV or LBF of either the d 4 or 10 CL. COMBINED refers to the sum of LV or LBF in d 4 and 10 CL.

Analysis of residuals from continuous variables was utilized to assess normality with PROC UNIVARIATE and SGPLOT. Graphical methods such as scatter plot of predicted × residual values, boxplots, and histograms of residuals were used for normality and outlier checks. Shapiro-Wilk was utilized as a normality test. A Box-Cox transformation analysis was employed utilizing PROC TRANSREG on variables that presented a non-normal distribution to establish the value of the λ -exponent. The recommended λ , or a λ value within the 95% confidence interval (CI) was used to transform the non-normal distributed variables. Serum P4 data presented a non-normal distribution and was log-transformed. Further analyses were performed with the transformed variable.

Differences in the proportion of heifers in which LBF decreased to zero were analyzed by chi-square test using the FREQ procedure. Analyses were performed for d 4 and d 10 CL separately. Treatment groups (¼, ½ and 1 dose of CLO) and control (NC and PC) heifers were included in the analyses.

Serum P₄ levels, LV and LBF were analyzed using PROC MIXED with the REPEATED statement to account for measurements over time (d 0/0 h, 0/1 h, 2, 4, 6 and 8). All analyses included treatment ($\frac{1}{4}$, $\frac{1}{2}$ and 1 dose of CLO) and control (NC and PC) heifers. The statistical model included the fixed effects of treatment, time, and their interaction. A first-order autoregressive [AR(1)] covariance structure was applied based on the lower Bayesian information criterion (BIC) score. Multiple comparisons between treatment groups were used to account for simple effects of treatment across time. Comparisons between different doses of CLO ($\frac{1}{4}$, $\frac{1}{2}$ and 1 dose), NC (no luteolysis) and PC (luteolysis) were used to interpret the effect of treatment on

CL regression. Significant interactions were sliced with PROC PLM using an output from PROC MIXED. Multiple comparisons within the interaction of treatment*time were performed between treatment groups and sliced by time. Multiple comparison *P*-values were adjusted with Tukey-Kramer adjustment method.

Heifers were separated into an additional group for INDIVIDUAL LV and LBF analyses of early and mid-cycle CL. Heifers were classified into two groups based on LBF regression of d 10 CL following treatment. Within each treatment group heifers were separated into complete regression of d 10 CL, defined as LBF = 0 at any time following treatment; and maintenance of LBF, which included heifers that maintain d 10 LBF > 0 until d 8 post-treatment. This separation was kept for all INDIVIDUAL analyses of LV and LBF of early and mid-cycle CL. Statistical significance was determined based on a P < 0.05.

RESULTS

The study design included two control groups to simulate different physiological scenarios that occur during normal luteal development. Data from untreated NC heifers provides parameters of physiological CL development, from d 4 to 12 (early to mid-cycle) and from d 10 to 18 of the estrous cycle (mid to late cycle). In contrast, PC heifers data describe the effect of treating multiple doses of CLO to induce luteolysis of both early and mid-cycle CL. Physiological parameters were determined in terms of serum P₄ levels, LV and LBF for heifers with combination of a main (d 10 CL) and accessory CL (d 4 CL; Table 2.1). For descriptive purposes, serum P₄ levels, INDIVIDUAL LV and LBF were reported for early and mid-cycle CL of NC and PC heifers (Figure 2.2).
	Negative controls (NC; $n = 8$)					
Day after treatment	COMBINED LV^1 mean \pm SEM (range)	COMBINED LBF ² mean ± SEM (range)	Serum P_4 levels ³ mean \pm SEM (range)			
0/0 h	$\frac{10,595 \pm 982}{(6807 - 14,896)}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5,971 \pm 667 \\ (4,157 - 8,366) \end{array}$	5.3 ± 0.4 (3.1 - 6.7)			
0/1 h	-	$\begin{array}{c} 6,304 \pm 545 \\ (4,247 - 8,817) \end{array}$	$5.3 \pm 0.4 \\ (3.1 - 7.0)$			
2	$\frac{10,863 \pm 992}{(7202 - 15,514)}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7,947 \pm 527 \\ (5,386 - 9,707) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.2 \pm 0.7 \\ (4.9 - 8.7) \end{array}$			
4	$\begin{array}{c} 12,376 \pm 1,101 \\ (8331 - 15,824) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8,291 \pm 450 \\ (6,497 - 9,962) \end{array}$	6.5 ± 0.6 (4.5 – 9.9)			
6	$\frac{10,522 \pm 739}{_{(6651 - 13,312)}}$	8,594 ± 969 (4,933 - 11,945)	7.0 ± 0.9 (5.1 – 13.2)			
8	$\begin{array}{c} 8,446 \pm 760 \\ (4828 - 11,056) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 8,613 \pm 1,105 \\ (3,292 - 12,443) \end{array}$	$5.9 \pm 0.8 \\ (1.4 - 8.8)$			
	Positive controls (PC; $n = 5$)					
Day after	COMBINED I V	COMBINED I BE	Sorum D. Javals			

Day after treatment	COMBINED LV mean ± SEM (range)	COMBINED LBF mean ± SEM (range)	Serum P4 levels mean ± SEM (range)
0/0 h	$\begin{array}{c} 8,061 \pm 1,427 \\ (5,401 - 13,036) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4,625\pm 406 \\ (3,506-5,513) \end{array}$	$7.0 \pm 0.6 \\ (5.7 - 8.7)$
0/1 h	-	$\begin{array}{c} 8,\!488 \pm 293 \\ (7,\!515 - 9,\!229) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.7 \pm 0.8 \\ (3.5 - 7.0) \end{array}$
2	$\begin{array}{c} 4,409 \pm 895 \\ (2,022 - 6,603) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2,533 \pm 377 \\ (1,048 - 3,173) \end{array}$	$\frac{1.5 \pm 0.2}{(1.0 - 2.3)}$
4	$\begin{array}{c} 1,401 \pm 309 \\ (754 - 2,513) \end{array}$	0	$\begin{array}{c} 0.87 \pm 0.07 \\ (0.7 - 1.1) \end{array}$
6	$\begin{array}{c} 463 \pm 65 \\ (268 - 674) \end{array}$	0	$\begin{array}{c} 0.81 \pm 0.1 \\ (0.6 - 1.1) \end{array}$
8	281 ± 39 (195 - 419)	0	$\begin{array}{c} 2.4 \pm 0.32^{4} \\ (1.6 - 3.2) \end{array}$

¹COMBINED LV was measured as mm³, and combines early and mid-cycle CL LV. ²COMBINED LBF was measured as pixel number and combines early and mid-cycle CL LBF. ³Serum P₄ levels were measured as ng/mL, and it is the result of early and mid-cycle CL. ⁴ On d 8 all heifers in the PC group had ovulated and the P₄ levels can be attributed to new developing CL.

Table 2.1. COMBINED LV, LBF and serum P_4 levels from negative and positive controls describe physiological parameters of two different scenarios that occur during normal CL development. Data was collected from heifer with the simultaneous presence of an accessory and main CL (early and mid-cycle CL). Negative controls data is equivalent of normal luteal development of early and mid-cycle CL combination. During the assessment period (d 0 to 8 after treatment) the early-cycle CL developed from d 4 to d 12 of the estrous cycle. The mid-cycle CL developed from d 10 to d 18 of the cycle. The positive control data describes simultaneous luteolysis of early and mid-cycle CL.

Complete luteal regression determination

The PC treatment regimen included 4 doses of 0.5 mg of CLO 24 h between each dose (d 0, 1, 2 and 3). Treatment with multiple doses of CLO induced drastic decrease in LV and LBF disappearance in both CL. No colored pixels were detected from 2 to 4 d after the first CLO injection in both CL. The disappearance of LBF coincided with the decrease of serum P₄ levels to under < 1 ng/mL at d 4 after the first injection (0.87 \pm 0.07 ng/mL). All heifers in the PC group had spontaneous ovulation following treatment. Two heifers had ovulations detected at d 2, and three heifers at d 4 following treatment.



Figure 2.2. Negative and positive controls (A) INDIVIDUAL luteal volume (LV) and (B) luteal blood flow (LBF) for early and mid-cycle CL. The early-cycle CL developed from d 4 to 12 whereas the mid-cycle developed from d 10 to 18 of the estrous cycle. The symbols represent statistical differences between early and mid-cycle CL. Each comparison was estimated within d and its respective control group. The * symbol describes comparisons within NC; whereas the † describes comparisons within PC heifers (P < 0.05; Tukey-Kramer).

On the contrary, all NC heifers maintained LBF of early and mid-cycle CL, from d 0 to d 8 post-treatment. Early-cycle LBF, measured as colored pixel count, ranged from 819 to 6,937 including all d of assessment. The mid-cycle LBF ranged from 1,727 to 6,849 including all d of assessment. Therefore, disappearance of LBF was considered as a clear marker of complete luteal regression in both CL.

Sub-luteolytic doses of CLO (¹/₄ and ¹/₂ dose) did not induce LBF disappearance of earlycycle CL measured 8 d after treatment. A full dose of CLO effectively regressed the d 4 LBF in 1 out of 8 heifers. Yet, this heifer did not have complete CL regression until 8 d following treatment (Table 2.2).

Complete LBF disappearance (n/n)		Days following treatment			
Treatment	0	2	4	6	8
Negative Control	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8
¹ / ₄ dose of CLO	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8
¹ / ₂ dose of CLO	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8
1 dose of CLO	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8	1/8
Positive Control	0/5	0/5	5/5	5/5	5/5

Table 2.2. Effect of cloprostenol dose in 4 d CL on cumulative number of breeding age Holstein heifers in which LBF measured as colored pixel number decreased to 0 during the 8-d period following treatment (P < 0.01).

Complete LBF disappearance (n/n)	Days following treatment				
Treatment (n/n)	0	2	4	6	8
Negative Control	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8	0/8
¹ / ₄ dose of CLO	0/8	0/8	0/8	1/8	4/8
¹ / ₂ dose of CLO	0/8	0/8	3/8	3/8	5/8
1 dose of CLO	0/8	2/8	7/8	8/8	8/8
Positive Control	0/5	2/5	5/5	5/5	5/5

Table 2.3. Effect of cloprostenol dose in 10 d CL on cumulative number of breeding age Holstein heifers in which LBF measured as colored pixel number decreased to 0 during the 8-d period following treatment (P < 0.01).

The mid-cycle CL was not surprisingly more sensitive to CLO administration compared to the early CL (Table 2.3). However, ¹/₄ and ¹/₂ dose of CLO were insufficient to induce complete LBF regression in all heifers. Time to complete LBF disappearance was prolonged as dose of CLO decreased. One full dose of CLO induced complete regression of d 10 LBF in all heifers from d 4 to 6 post-treatment. Further INDIVIDUAL analyses will describe results separately between heifers with LBF maintenance and LBF regression of the d 10 CL.

Control groups: INDIVIDUAL LV and LBF parameters

Negative controls. In NC heifers early-cycle INDIVIDUAL LV increased from d 0 to d 8 after treatment (or from d 4 to d 12 of the estrous cycle). The early-cycle LV peaked at d 4 with a slight decrease up until d 8 after treatment. The early-cycle CL maintained lower LV in comparison to mid-cycle CL when in the same d of the estrous cycle. early-cycle LV averaged 4,562.9 whereas mid-cycle LV averaged 9,491.7 mm³, both at d 10 of the estrous cycle. A downward trend in mid-cycle LV was present in untreated NC heifers. Average LV decreased from d 0 to 8 (or from d 10 to d 18 of the estrous cycle). Early-cycle LBF increased from d 0 to d 8 after treatment, reaching similar average LBF in comparison with the main CL. Mid-cycle LBF maintained a plateau throughout the study.

Positive controls. In PC heifers, treatment with 4 doses of CLO 24 h apart impaired normal development of early CL, measured as average LV. PC heifers average LV peaked at d 2, after 2 injections of CLO, with no differences in comparison with NC heifers. From d 4 to 8 post-treatment LV was decreased in PC in comparison with NC heifers. Mid-cycle LV decreased drastically from d 0 to d 8 following PC treatment regimen. Similar to LV in the early-cycle CL, LBF increased from d 0 to d 2 post-treatment. Yet, PC treatment resulted in early-cycle LBF disappearance from d 2 to d 4 post-treatment. In mid-cycle CL average LBF decreased drastically from d 0 to d 2 post-treatment.

treatment and reached zero 4 d after the first treatment. Comparisons with NC and PC heifers were utilized to interpret the effect of different doses of CLO on serum P₄ levels, LV and LBF. All figures include NC and PC data for comparison.



Figure 2.3. The effect of $\frac{1}{4}$ (A), $\frac{1}{2}$ (B) and full (C) doses of cloprostenol sodium (CLO) INDIVIDUAL LV (mm³) in breeding age Holstein heifers compared to negative (no CLO) and positive (4 doses 0.5 mg CLO 24 h between each dose) controls. Heifers shown separately based on outcome of treatment on d 10 CL. Treatments sharing different letter superscripts inside the dotted lines differed significantly within that d (P < 0.05; Tukey-Kramer).

Early-cycle CL: effect of CLO dose on LV and LBF

Treating heifers with ¼ and ½ doses of CLO did not attenuate growth rate of d 4 CL measured as LV (Figure 2.3 A and B, respectively). Complete LBF regression of the d 10 CL did not impact average LV following ¼ and ½ doses of CLO. Early-cycle CL development occurred normally following 1 dose of CLO until d 6. Yet, a full dose of CLO decreased average LV from d 6 to 8 in comparison with NC on the same d (Figure 2.3 C).



Figure 2.4. The effect of $\frac{1}{4}$ (A), $\frac{1}{2}$ (B) and full (C) doses of cloprostenol sodium (CLO) on earlycycle (d 4) INDIVIDUAL LBF (pixel number) in breeding age Holstein heifers compared to

negative (no CLO) and positive (four doses 0.5 mg CLO 24 h between each dose) controls. Heifers shown separately based on outcome of treatment on d 10 CL. Treatments sharing different letter superscripts inside the dotted lines differed significantly within that d (P < 0.05; Tukey-Kramer).

Luteal blood flow of the d 4 CL seemed unaffected following treatment with ¼ dose of CLO (Figure 2.4 A). Luteal blood flow was not different from non-treated controls, regardless classification between d 10 CL regression or maintenance of LBF. Heifers receiving ½ dose of CLO and classified within LBF regression of the d 10 CL eventually decreased d 4 LBF (Figure 2.4 B). This decrease was detected at d 8 post-treatment in comparison to ½ dose heifers that did not have d 10 CL regression and NC heifers. Heifers treated with a full dose of CLO decreased early-cycle LBF from d 6 to 8. Average LBF was lower in comparison with NC at d 8. All heifers in this treatment also had complete LBF regression of the d 10 CL (Figure 2.4 C).

Mid-cycle CL: effect of CLO dose on LV and LBF

Treating CLO to heifers with d 10 CL resulted in decreased LV post-treatment. The response pattern to CLO depended on dose and classification into regression or maintenance of d 10 LBF. All tested doses of CLO ($\frac{1}{4}$, $\frac{1}{2}$ and 1 dose) induced a reduction of d 10 LV at d 2 and 4 post-treatment in comparison with NC (Figure 2.5 A, B and C). However, heifers classified as maintaining LBF > 0 in the $\frac{1}{4}$ and $\frac{1}{2}$ dose groups had intermediate LV on d 6 and 8. Heifers that received a full dose of CLO presented a similar LV reduction rate in comparison with PC treated heifers (Figure 2.5 C).

The effect of treatment on LBF dynamics varied according to CLO dose. Besides the dose effect, classification between complete LBF regression or maintenance also influenced response following CLO treatment. All groups that received CLO at d 0 showed an acute increase in LBF in comparison to untreated heifers, 1 h after treatment (Figure 2.6 A, B and C). However, heifers that received ¹/₄ dose and were classified within maintaining LBF > 0 had intermediate LBF 1 h

post-treatment. There were no differences amongst this group and any other treatment group 1 h after treatment (Figure 2.6 A).



Figure 2.5. The effect of $\frac{1}{4}$ (A), $\frac{1}{2}$ (B) and full (C) doses of cloprostenol sodium (CLO) on midcycle (d 10) INDIVIDUAL LV (mm³) in breeding age Holstein heifers compared to negative (no CLO) and positive (four doses 0.5 mg CLO 24 h between each dose) controls. Heifers shown separately based on outcome of treatment on d 10 CL. Treatments sharing different letter superscripts inside the dotted lines differed significantly within that d (P < 0.05; Tukey-Kramer).

Some heifers that received sub-luteolytic doses of CLO (¼ and ½ dose) still regressed LBF completely. Yet, the time to complete LBF disappearance was not the same between ¼ and ½ dose of CLO as described previously (Table 2.3).



Figure 2.6. The effect of $\frac{1}{4}$ (A), $\frac{1}{2}$ (B) and full (C) doses of cloprostenol sodium (CLO) on midcycle (d 10) INDIVIDUAL LBF (pixel number) in breeding age Holstein heifers compared to negative (no CLO) and positive (four doses 0.5 mg CLO 24 h between each dose) controls. Heifers shown separately based on outcome of treatment on d 10 CL. Treatments sharing different letter superscripts inside the dotted lines differed significantly within that d (P < 0.05; Tukey-Kramer).

Heifers that maintained LBF in the ¹/₄ and ¹/₂ dose groups showed a slight decrease in LBF followed by an upwards trend, with no differences in comparison to NC d 8 after treatment. Heifers that received 1 dose of CLO were as efficient as PC in reducing LBF. No differences on LBF were observed between these two groups from d 0 to d 8 following treatment.

Treatment effects on serum P4 levels

There were early effects of CLO treatment on serum P₄ levels in $\frac{1}{4}$, $\frac{1}{2}$, 1 dose and PC heifers. Two d after CLO treatment, serum P₄ levels in those groups decreased in comparison with NC. At 4 d post-treatment serum P₄ levels increased on $\frac{1}{4}$, $\frac{1}{2}$ and 1 dose groups, but not on PC group. However, treating CLO to heifers with a d 4 and a d 10 CL seemed to induce long terms effects on serum P₄ levels.



Figure 2.7. The effect of treating breeding age Holstein heifers with early (d 4) and mid-cycle (d 10) CL with different luteolytic doses of cloprostenol sodium (CLO) compared to negative (no CLO) and positive (four doses 0.5 mg CLO 24 h between each dose) controls on circulating P₄ concentrations (ng/mL). Letter superscripts refer to multiple comparisons between treatments and within d following treatment. Treatments sharing different letter superscripts inside the dotted lines differed significantly within that d (P < 0.05; Tukey-Kramer).

A reduction in serum P₄ levels was detected 8 d after treatment, and it seemed independent on CLO dose. All groups that received CLO on d 0 had lower P₄ levels in comparison with NC d 8 after treatment. Comparisons with PC on d 6 and 8 are confounded. All heifers in this group had spontaneous ovulation and the present P_4 is secreted by a newly formed CL (Figure 2.7).

DISCUSSION

Our intention on treating different doses of CLO was to create partial and complete luteolysis scenarios. Partial or incomplete luteolysis is observed in 10 to 20% of lactating dairy cows that receive a single dose of PGF_{2a} during timed artificial insemination (TAI) programs (Brusveen et al., 2009; Martins et al., 2011a; Wiltbank et al., 2015). Treatment with sub-luteolytic doses of CLO intended to induce similar scenarios that occur in lactating in dairy cows, but rarely occur in heifers (Sartori et al., 2004). Other studies succeeded in inducing partial luteolysis in cows, and heifers utilizing intrauterine or intramuscular decreased doses of PGF_{2a} (Ginther et al., 2009; Trevisol et al., 2015). Measurement of LBF was sensitive enough to detect a slight decrease followed by an increase in heifers that received sub-luteolytic doses of CLO. Trevisol et al. (2015) also reported a decrease followed by a rebound in both LV and LBF in cows treated with a sub-luteolytic dose of PGF_{2a}, measured in a 48-h period. Surprisingly, ¹/₄ and ¹/₂ dose of CLO still induced complete luteal regression of mid-cycle CL in a proportion of heifers. However, time to complete luteal regression of the d 10 CL was prolonged in those heifers in comparison with 1 dose and PC heifers.

An acute increase in d 10 CL LBF was present 1 h after CLO treatment, but not in the d 4 CL. These findings agree with another study where CLO was treated to heifers with either an early or a mid-cycle CL (Acosta et al., 2002). This increase was independent on CLO dose. Yet, heifers that received ¹/₄ dose of CLO and also maintained LBF had an intermediate increase. An acute increase in LBF within a mid-cycle CL from 0.5 to 2 h post-treatment was reported before (Acosta et al., 2002; Miyamoto et al., 2005; Ginther et al., 2009). Moreover, it was suggested as one of the

first and necessary events to start the luteolytic cascade (Miyamoto et al., 2005, 2009). To our knowledge, this is the first report where low doses of CLO also resulted in a transient LBF increase. In the present study, increase in LBF 1 h post-treatment not necessarily resulted in complete luteal regression. Heifers that received ¼ and ½ dose of CLO and experienced this an increase in LBF were still able to maintain LBF after treatment during the 8-d assessment period. At the last d of assessment there were no differences in LBF between untreated NC and groups that received subluteolytic doses of CLO.

With the exception of the PC group, it was only expected to induce luteal regression of the mid-cycle CL. One of our objectives was to understand luteal dynamics in the early-cycle CL when in the presence of a mid-cycle CL that either underwent complete luteal regression or did not. The early-cycle CL was refractory to $PGF_{2\alpha}$ -induced luteolysis at the time of treatment. Many studies have reported a period during early CL development where $PGF_{2\alpha}$ does not induce luteolysis (Wiltbank et al., 1995; Tsai and Wiltbank, 1998; Acosta et al., 2002). This period extends from d 0 to d 5 of the estrous cycle and luteal development is not affected by $PGF_{2\alpha}$ administration. In fact, $PGF_{2\alpha}$ along with VEGF and bFGF are stimulators of CL development early in the estrous cycle (Miyamoto et al., 2009).

Acosta et al. (2002) treated a full dose of CLO to heifers with a d 4 CL. The early CL normally developed 2 d after treatment. The early-cycle CL increased serum P₄ levels, LV and LBF post-treatment. In the present study, follow-up period was extended up to 8 d to verify if long-term impacts of CLO and/or regression of the mid-cycle CL were present. Sub-luteolytic doses of CLO did not seem to impair early-cycle CL development in comparison to NC. Yet, heifers that received ½ dose of CLO with simultaneous mid-cycle LBF regression had lower early-cycle LBF 8 d after treatment. A more evident decrease was identified 8 d after treatment in both LV and LBF

in heifers that received a full dose of CLO. All heifers in that group also had d 10 CL complete LBF regression. Eight d after treatment are equivalent to d 12 of the estrous cycle for the early-cycle. Luteal regression at this time is not expected to occur.

The premature decrease in early-cycle LBF could be an effect of simultaneous regression of the mid-cycle CL. Howard and Britt (1990) reported premature regression of a human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) induced CL 2 d after ovulation, when in the presence of a regressing mature CL. Another study reported that cows with a combination of an older and new CL had greater luteolysis rates in comparison with cows that only had a new CL (Stevenson, 2016). However, the same study defined a new CL as a 7-d old accessory CL, which is inconsistent with the characteristics of the accessory CL in the present data (4-d old CL).

The early effects on serum P₄ levels in CLO treated groups was most certainly due to the regression of the d 10 CL, susceptible to CLO. Multiple treatments with CLO impaired P₄ secretion in PC heifers. However, heifers treated with ¹/₄, ¹/₂, and 1 dose of CLO increased serum P₄ levels up to d 4 post-treatment. Luteal function was maintained regardless of mid-cycle CL regression. Thus, early-cycle CL acquired and maintained endocrine function, regardless of CLO dose. Yet, treating CLO to heifers with a d 4 and d 10 CL seemed to induce long terms effects on serum P₄ levels reduction in serum P₄ levels was detected from d 6 to 8 after treatment. Serum P₄ levels reduction seemed independent on CLO dose. This effect could be attributed solely to regression of the d 10 CL. However, INDIVIDUAL analyses showed that the early-cycle CL was also impacted following 1 dose (decrease in LV and LBF) and ¹/₂ dose of CLO (decrease in LBF). Both groups also had complete regression of d 10 CL. The long-term effects on serum P₄ reduction are most likely due to the interaction between the regressing mid-cycle CL and early-cycle CL. Heifers with mid-cycle CL complete regression were more likely to have low levels of P₄ in comparison

to heifers that maintained a functional mid-cycle CL. Serum P₄ levels could have been insufficient to exert its negative feedback blocking OXTR and ER expression in the uterus (Grazzini et al., 1998; Robinson et al., 2001). The lack of P₄ negative feedback could trigger intrinsic luteolytic mechanisms from d 10 to 12 of the estrous cycle (d 6 to 8 post-treatment) thus resulting in the premature luteolysis of the early-cycle CL.

The inclusion of control groups provided data to identify different response patterns following treatment with various doses of CLO. Through multiple comparisons it was possible to identify the presence, or the lack of, statistical differences between treatments and controls. However, that may not be the case in other experimental settings. Data described in Table 2.1 may provide guidelines for future applications of ultrasonography as a tool to assess luteolysis in contrast with normal CL development. We advocate that these parameters may vary when using different ultrasound machines and methodologies.

Several studies have demonstrated the relationship between LBF and circulating P₄ levels (Niswender et al., 1976; Janson et al., 1981; Reynolds et al., 2000; Acosta et al., 2002, 2003). Nonsteroidogenic and steroidogenic cellular differentiation and migration takes place during the first d of luteal development (Alila and Hansel, 1984; Reynolds et al., 2000). Pericytes and endothelial cells establish a vast vascular bedframe within the CL in response to angiogenic and vasoactive factors (Reynolds et al., 2000; Miyamoto et al., 2009; Berisha et al., 2016). Each luteal cell is in contact with one or more capillaries (Wiltbank et al., 1988). During luteolysis there is a drastic decrease in ovarian blood inflow followed by decreasing levels of P₄ (Niswender et al., 1976). Blood flow within the CL decreases along with serum P₄ levels following PGF_{2α} administration (Miyamoto et al., 2005; Lüttgenau et al., 2011). We acknowledge that decreased or intermediate LBF may also be associated with CL regression. However, the absence of LBF was a clearer marker of luteal regression in PC heifers. The time to complete disappearance of LBF laid in between 2 to 4 d after the first CLO administration.

In contrast, determining luteal regression based on LV alone could be misleading. It is well established that increase in LV is accompanied by increasing levels of P₄ (Acosta et al., 2002; Sartori et al., 2004). That is particularly evident from early to mid-cycle. The mid-cycle CL is characterized for its stable and compact luteal tissue (Farin et al., 1986). This period of the estrous cycle coincides with the highest production of P₄ (Sartori et al., 2004). Yet, a continuous decrease in mid-cycle LV was observed in untreated NC heifers. A decrease in LV was reported somewhere else, starting at d 12 of the estrous cycle (Pate et al., 2012). A lack of dose response in CLO treated heifers is another downfall of utilizing LV as a luteolysis indicator. Average mid-cycle LV decreased in comparable rates between CLO treated groups, regardless of dose.

This trial was our laboratory's effort to define guidelines on assessing luteal function via ultrasonography. Based on control groups outcomes substantial information was gathered on both development and regression of CL. Treatment with various doses of CLO successfully induced response patterns that may occur in lactating dairy cows during TAI programs.

In summary, luteal function measured with color Doppler allowed for identification of dose-response patterns during CLO induced luteolysis. Treatment with ¹/₄, ¹/₂, and a full dose of CLO induced an acute increase in LBF measured 1 h after treatment. However, the increase in LBF did not necessarily result in complete mid-cycle CL regression. The presence of a regressing mid-cycle CL induced premature luteolysis of early-cycle CL from d 10 to 12 of the estrous cycle. Multiple doses of CLO resulted in LBF disappearance between d 2 and 4 after the first injection. Further studies are warranted to investigate the timing of LBF disappearance following final PGF₂^{α} of Ovsynch and its effects on pregnancy rates per artificial insemination (PR/AI).

CHAPTER 3

REVIEW: CONTROLLING HORMONAL INTERACTIONS TO ENHANCE FERTILITY OF LACTATING DAIRY COWS

INTRODUCTION

Early studies that identified the uterus as the origin of luteolytic stimuli in cattle were key in the development of pharmacological products to control CL functionality. Luteal lifespan was prolonged in cows that had undergone complete hysterectomy (Wiltbank and Casida, 1956; Copelin et al., 1987) leading to the understanding that the uterus was involved in controlling the lifespan of the CL. Unilateral hysterectomy decreased probability of regression of contralateral CL (Moor and Rowson, 1966) indicating that the horn ipsilateral to the CL was where the luteolytic stimuli was being produced. Purified suspensions of cow's endometrium were able to decrease CL volume and circulating P₄ in hysterectomized hamsters (Lukaszewaska and Hansel, 1970). However, this last study failed to isolate the endometrium luteolysin nor could describe how it reached the CL. Later, many studies identified and described PGF_{2a} as a main inducer of luteolysis in cattle (Nancarrow et al., 1973; Peterson et al., 1975; Shemesh and Hansel, 1975; Kindahl et al., 1976). Around the same time it was elucidated that PGF_{2a} was secreted at the ipsilateral horn to the CL and reached the ovary via a countercurrent process (Ginther and Del Campo, 1973).

Release of endogenous $PGF_{2\alpha}$ depends on P_4 and E_2 hormonal interactions and their feedback on endometrium OXTR expression, as discussed in Chapter 1. Interestingly, E_2 and P_4 's role in either stimulating or inhibiting OXTR seems to depend on their simultaneous exposure. Estrogen upregulates endometrium OXTR expression and consequently increases $PGF_{2\alpha}$ release (McCracken, 1980). However, the level of effectiveness of this mechanism seems to depend on preceding endometrium exposure to P_4 . Continuous infusion of P_4 (500 µg/h) blocked the effects of continuously infusing E_2 (0.5 µg/h) on oxytocin-mediated release of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ at d 2 and 6 of infusion. Following 10 d of infusion the inhibitory action of P_4 ceased and E_2 positive feedback on oxytocin-mediated release of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ was restored (McCracken, 1980). Moreover, the effect of oxytocin was 100-fold greater after 10 d of P₄ infusion in comparison to absence of P₄ exposure (McCracken, 1980). Another study reported increased expression of E₂ and oxytocin receptors following termination of a 5-d infusion with P₄ (500 μ g/h; Leavitt et al., 1985). More recently, Shimizu et al. (2010) proposed mechanisms in which P₄ and E₂ interact to induce changes in endometrium transcriptome. Based on cluster analysis they identify different patterns of gene upregulation/downregulation of endometrium exposed to either E₂ or P₄, or a combination of E₂ and P₄. Estrogen response was amplified in some clusters when P₄ was administered in combination with E₂. Other genes required P₄ priming to respond to E₂. Clusters of genes that responded to P₄ alone were unchanged with latter E₂ exposure. Finally, E₂ exposure countered P₄ response within some of the clusters. This data endorses the importance of steroid hormones interactions and their interdependence during the estrous cycle.

Manipulation of estrous cycle via endocrine treatments can increase fertility in dairy cows (Bisinotto and Santos, 2012). Taking advantage of hormonal interactions that control events during estrous cycle allows for fine control of luteal and follicular development. Currently, estrous cycle manipulation in the USA relies in induced luteolysis and via ovulations commercially available GnRH and PGF_{2 α}, respectively. This chapter discusses current strategies of estrous cycle manipulation that rely on controlling time of luteolysis, ovulation and artificial insemination (AI). It also describes underlying physiology of such strategies and their relationship with fertility in lactating dairy cows.

HISTORY OF EXOGENOUS PGF_{2a} USAGE IN ESTROUS CYCLE MANIPULATION

The death of the CL is a programmed event that occurs around d 18 of the estrous cycle in cycling cows. Characterization of luteolysis key factors allowed for external control of CL lifespan. A programmed event then became passive of alterations via exogenous treatments.

41

Use of PGF_{2 α} pharmaceuticals was first regulated by FDA in 1979 for dinoprost tromethamine (DIN; 25 µg dose) and later in 1983 for cloprostenol sodium (CLO; 500 µg dose). Dinoprost tromethamine is a biological analogue, whereas CLO is a synthetic analogue of PGF_{2 α}. Dinoprost tromethamine is metabolized at very similar rates in comparison to endogenous released PGF_{2 α}. One dose of DIN is almost completely metabolized during its first passage through the lungs (Mccracken et al., 1999). Thus, DIN has a short half-life of ~8 minutes (Kindahl et al., 1976). Cloprostenol sodium is a more stable molecule with greater resistance to lung metabolization (Bourne et al., 1980). Comparatively, CLO has a longer half-life of ~3 h (Reeves, 1978).

Induced luteolysis with DIN or CLO did not alter the proportion of cows with $P_4 < 0.5$ ng/mL measured daily during a 4-d period. In the same study there was only a trend for greater PR/AI in cows treated with CLO in comparison to DIN (Martins et al., 2011b). However, complementary data demonstrated that CLO induced a more rapid decrease of P_4 levels in the first 12 h post-treatment (Martins et al., 2011a). Faster decrease in P_4 following CLO yielded greater circulating levels of E_2 48 h after treatment. A more abrupt decrease in P_4 results in increased LH pulsatility and greater E_2 levels (Bergfeld et al., 1996).

In fact, the use of exogenous $PGF_{2\alpha}$ alone was one of the first strategies that attempted to manipulate estrous cycle in cattle. Treatment with $PGF_{2\alpha}$ intends to cause CL regression and concentrate time of estrus in treated cows. Yet, variation in d to standing estrus based on random $PGF_{2\alpha}$ treatment is considerably high. Cows show signs of estrus anytime from 1 up to 5 d, with a greater concentration of estrus at d 3 and 4 post- $PGF_{2\alpha}$ (Pursley et al., 2012). Estrus expression following $PGF_{2\alpha}$ depended on d of cycle treatment was given. Cows were detected in estrus following treatment with $PGF_{2\alpha}$ after, but not before d 5 of the estrous cycle (Louis et al., 1972). Artificial insemination following $PGF_{2\alpha}$ -induced estrus resulted in similar fertility in comparison to AI after natural estrus detection. Estrus detection following $PGF_{2\alpha}$ improved 21-d service rates and reduced d to conception in comparison to estrus detection alone (Stevenson and Pursley, 1994). A large field study utilized either CLO or DIN to induce luteolysis and bred cows after estrus detection. Treatment with CLO tended to increase estrus detection rates. Yet, within 1st parity cows CLO significantly enhanced estrus detection rates, and consequently service rate. Cows that received CLO to induce estrus had greater PR/AI and pregnancy rate. The increase in pregnancy rate was restricted to 1st parity cows that received CLO, once service rate was enhanced only for those cows (Pursley et al., 2012).

Similar fertility and greater service rates are two reasons why this strategy is still utilized in dairy operations. However, its main pitfall is that randomly inducing luteolysis does not concentrate estrus in a predetermined d. Therefore, treatment with PGF_{2α} alone still relies on intensive estrus detection to identify eligible cows for AI. Larson and Ball said in 1992 "a major problem is lack of a consistent, precise time of estrus in relation to the appropriate PGF_{2α} injection, rather than an inherent infertility". The end goal of estrous cycle manipulation was to control time of ovulation and predetermine time of AI.

The leading step to upgrade estrous synchronization strategies came along with the advent of ultrasonography (Fricke, 2002). Until early 1980's study of ovarian structures was restricted to terminal studies or rectal palpation. Collection of accurate follow-up and real-time data was very limited in those given circumstances. Some of the first published reports of using ultrasound to assess ovarian structures was on horses (Ginther and Pierson, 1984). Later in that year the same authors reported detailed description of ovarian structures assessed with ultrasound in cattle (Pierson and Ginther, 1984). Having available a non-invasive, real-time technique that could describe ovarian dynamics throughout the estrous cycle was revolutionary. Therefore, ultrasonography mediated the development of new strategies to synchronize estrous cycle in cows.

SYNCHRONIZATION OF OVULATION – OVSYNCH

Ovsynch (Figure 3.1) was the pioneer strategy on combining induced ovulations and timely induced luteolysis (Pursley et al., 1995). Moreover, it overcame the biggest pitfall of simply inducing CL regression with PGF_{2a}: estrus detection was not necessary during Ovsynch. Ovsynch was designed to exogenously induce an ovulation with GnRH in a fixed time following PGF_{2a}. Controlling time of ovulation also meant predetermining AI time. That was the debut of TAI terminology. Ovsynch was a "natural consequence of a great deal of previous research on follicular waves, use of GnRH, and use of PGF_{2a} in cattle", defined by the scientists that developed it (Wiltbank and Pursley, 2014).

The underlying physiology of Ovsynch is theoretically simple. It starts with a GnRH treatment that induces an LH surge, ovulation, formation of a new CL and emergence of a new follicular wave (Figure 3.1). Seven d later, in the presence of a responsive CL, $PGF_{2\alpha}$ is given to induce luteolysis and decrease P₄ levels. Forty-eight h later another GnRH treatment is given to induce an LH surge and ovulation of the dominant follicle prior to TAI (Pursley et al., 1995). Extending the period from $PGF_{2\alpha}$ to second GnRH from 48 to 56 h increased ovulation rates. This modification was implemented into the original protocol (Brusveen et al., 2008). Follow-up research determined that TAI should be performed 16 h following GnRH (Pursley et al., 1998). TAI 16 h after the last GnRH of Ovsynch is the current industry standard.



Figure 3.1. Description of synchronization of ovulation (Ovsynch) in dairy cattle including how GnRH (G in blue) causes ovulation to form a new CL, when luteolysis occurs, and how a final GnRH causes ovulation. A new follicular wave emerges following every ovulation.

Cows inseminated after Ovsynch had similar PR/AI compared to cows inseminated following estrus detection (Pursley et al., 1997b). Ovsynch did not improve reproduction performance in terms of PR/AI, but rather increased service rates (Pursley et al., 1997a). In an Ovsynch program 100% of open cows receive AI, whereas estrus detection rates are limited to ~50% (Washburn et al., 2002; Lopez et al., 2004).

Yet, the proportion of cows that respond to each injection of the Ovsynch (synchronization rate) is not as perfect as its theory. The "randomness factor" of Ovsynch plays against its synchronization success. Ovulation following the first GnRH injection may or may not occur depending on the d of the cycle and the presence of a responsive dominant follicle. Vasconcelos et al. (1999) tested initiating Ovsynch in different periods of the estrous cycle. Cows received the first GnRH injection either 1 - 4, 5 - 9, 10 - 16, or 17 - 21 d of estrous cycle. GnRH treatment at 5 - 9 d of the estrous cycle yielded the greatest ovulation rate (96%) whereas, starting Ovsynch at

1-4 d of the estrous cycle resulted in the lowest ovulation rates (23%). Bello et al. (2006) tested initiating Ovsynch on d 4, 5, and 6 of the estrous cycle. GnRH treatment on d 6 resulted in greater ovulation rates in comparison to starting Ovsynch on a random d of the cycle (85 vs. 54%, respectively). Initiating Ovsynch on d 6 also increased the proportion of synchronized cows in comparison to a random Ovsynch (92 vs. 69%, respectively).

Perhaps the key to synchronization success during Ovsynch is ovulation to the first GnRH. Starting the protocol when ovulation is more likely to occur eliminates Ovsynch random factor and improves fertility of dairy cows (Moreira et al., 2000; Wiltbank and Pursley, 2014). Just as Ovsynch was described as a natural outcome of previous research, Ovsynch itself became the framework to develop future synchronization programs. This program opened a path to achieve better understanding of estrous manipulation, physiology, and fertility of dairy cows (Thatcher, 2017). Follow-up research focused on optimizing ovulation to GnRH treatments and warranting complete luteal regression prior to TAI.

THE NEXT LEVEL OF OVSYNCH: PRE-SYNCHRONIZATION PROGRAMS

A solution to maximize synchronization following Ovsynch was to pre-synchronize cows to a certain stage of the estrous cycle. Pre-Ovsynch programs increased the proportion of cows on an ideal d to induce ovulation after the first GnRH (Wiltbank and Pursley, 2014). Presynch-11 and Double-Ovsynch (DO) are typically utilized as pre-synchronization programs and manipulate estrous cycle via distinct mechanisms (Moreira et al., 2001; Galvão et al., 2007; Souza et al., 2008).

Pre-synchronization with DO consists of two Ovsynch programs 7 d apart (Souza et al., 2008). The second GnRH of the first Ovsynch induces ovulation 7 d prior starting the breeding portion Ovsynch. In that manner, cows are at d 7 of the estrous cycle when the first GnRH of Ovsynch is administered. The study that developed this program compared DO with Presynch-11.

Ovulation to the first GnRH of Ovsynch did not differ between the two pre-synchronization protocols (71.8 vs 66.7%, respectively). However, treatment with DO impacted circulating P₄ levels during the program. DO decreased the proportion of cows with low P₄ at the first GnRH of Ovsynch and increased the proportion of cows with high P₄ at final PGF_{2α}. Moreover, cows synchronized with DO achieved greater PR/AI in comparison with Presynch-11 (Souza et al., 2008). The authors attributed such improve in fertility to resolution of anovular conditions via GnRH administration during DO. Causing ovulations with exogenously induced LH surge is one approach to induce cyclicity in anestrus cows (Wiltbank et al., 2002). Inducing cyclicity prior to 1st service improved fertility (Herlihy et al., 2012).

Pre-Ovsynch programs are commonly utilized to maximize PR/AI at 1st service (Caraviello et al., 2006; Wiltbank and Pursley, 2014). They are long protocols that start early post-partum to guarantee 1st service conception at a target range of days in milk (DIM), usually ~75 to 81. Utilizing such long protocols for 2nd+ services would increase d to conception and calving intervals. This scenario is undesirable in dairy operations from a profitability standpoint and subsequent fertility (Plaizier et al., 1997; Groenendaal et al., 2004; Middleton et al., 2019). Therefore, resynchronization programs are often shorter and scheduled along with pregnancy diagnosis (Fricke, 2002; Fricke et al., 2016). Ovsynch is commonly used as a resynch strategy due to its short duration. GGPG is also an option to resynchronize cows. GGPG is an Ovsynch preceded by an extra GnRH 7 d prior to Ovsynch initiation. Treatment with GnRH prior to the first GnRH of Ovsynch improved synchronization rates and PR/AI in comparison to a random Ovsynch (Lopes et al., 2013).

The pre-synchronization portion of fertility programs results in a main CL that forms prior to Ovsynch initiation. For example, cows synchronized with DO or GGPG are at d 7 of the estrous

cycle at fist GnRH of Ovsynch. That means they have a CL and a dominant follicle at d 7 of development. Consequently, a secondary luteal structure forms, termed accessory CL. Cows that respond to GnRH injections in a fertility program have a d 14 (main CL) and a 7 CL (accessory CL) at the time of PGF_{2 α}. The combination of a main and an accessory CL results in 50% increase in P₄ levels in comparison to only a main CL (Pursley and Martins, 2012). A new follicular wave emerges following ovulation to the first GnRH of Ovsynch. The selected dominant follicle within that wave develops for 7 d under high P₄ until induced luteolysis.



Figure 3.2. Description of ovarian structures dynamics and hormonal concentrations of LH and P_4 in cows that respond to DO program. Combination of GnRH (G in blue) and $PGF_{2\alpha}$ (PG in red) treatments result in a more refined control of ovarian structures and levels of P_4 in comparison to a random Ovsynch (Figure 3.1). GnRH induces ovulation via an exogenous LH surge. Second and third GnRH treated 7 d apart result in the presence of a d 7 and 14 CL at the time of final $PGF_{2\alpha}$. Treatment with $PGF_{2\alpha}$ causes luteolysis and decrease in P_4 levels. As circulating P_4 levels decrease LH pulsatility increases.

Figure 3.2 shows a schematic representation of how follicular and luteal dynamics change in response to GnRH and PGF_{2 α} treatments during a DO program. Within cows displaying similar ovarian structures at the final PGF_{2 α} 96% had complete regression following treatment. Cows in that stage of the estrous cycle have 92% synchronized ovulations to the last GnRH of Ovsynch (Bello et al., 2006).

Pre-Ovsynch programs are often called fertility programs. They increase PR/AI through different mechanisms. (Bisinotto and Santos, 2012; Pursley and Martins, 2012; Thatcher, 2017). Yet, the concept is similar: creating ovulations, starting a new follicular wave and a new CL.

STRATEGIES TO ENHANCE PR/AI IN LACTATING DAIRY COWS RECEIVING TAI

Perhaps cows that respond to every injection of a pre-synchronization and Ovsynch are programmed to achieve great fertility for two different reasons. 1) Controlled development of preovulatory follicle through high P₄ and decreased dominance phase. 2) Induction of high P₄ levels from the first GnRH of Ovsynch up until PGF_{2α}-induced luteolysis.

The negative feedback that high P_4 exerts in the central nervous system blocks ovulation but also modulates follicle growth. This negative feedback becomes more accentuated as P_4 levels increase (Roberson et al., 1989). Manipulating levels of P_4 is a valuable tool to either enhance or withdraw P_4 's negative feedback (Cerri et al., 2011). Dominant follicle's growth is stimulated when LH pulses are more frequent (Ginther, 2000; Wiltbank et al., 2011b). Consequently, the resulting larger follicle secretes greater E_2 levels (Butler et al., 2008). Increasing levels of E_2 feeds back into LH release, also increasing its pulsatility (Schams et al., 1977). This scenario may result in overly large follicles. In experimental settings, low P_4 resulted in greater follicle size and increased basal LH concentrations in comparison to cows with a main and accessory CL (Cerri et al., 2011). Preovulatory follicle size has a quadratic effect on PR/AI. Ovulation of overly small (< ~12 mm) or overly large (> ~19 mm) preovulatory follicles resulted in decreased PR/AI. Cows that ovulated follicles around 16 mm have greater PR/AI. Ovulation to the first GnRH of Ovsynch, and creation of an accessory CL also decreased the variability in preovulatory follicle size (Bello et al., 2006). Thus, regulating follicular size via P_4 concentrations seems imperative to enhance fertility.

The final GnRH of Ovsynch induces the LH surge before it occurs naturally in most cows. Time from follicular recruitment until ovulation is shortened during TAI. Restricting the dominance period resulted in greater PR/AI and greater proportion of high-grade embryos (Cerri et al., 2009; Santos et al., 2010). This effect is probably related with controlling the age of the dominant follicle and consequently the oocyte age (Revah and Butler, 1996).

Another aspect of low P₄ concentration during follicular development is the recruitment of two dominant follicles and hence, double ovulations. Cows with high P₄ during pre- and post-dominance phase had fewer double ovulations and ovulated smaller follicles at final GnRH. In fact, creating a low P₄ environment pre- and post- dominance was a great model to induce double ovulations (49%) and large follicles (19.6 mm). Cows that double ovulate had greater PR/AI in comparison to single ovulators. However, twinning increased the chances of pregnancy loss (Martins et al., 2018).

Another important hormonal interaction between P_4 and E_2 levels occurs following $PGF_{2\alpha}$ induced luteolysis. As mentioned previously, a more rapid decrease in P_4 levels following $PGF_{2\alpha}$ resulted in greater E_2 levels. The withdraw of P_4 's negative feedback on LH pulsatility is essential for final follicular growth (Mihm et al., 2006). A peak of E_2 precedes and causes the pre-ovulatory LH surge in the absence of P_4 's negative feedback (Chenault et al., 1975). There is also evidence that levels of E_2 and estrus expression prior to AI increase fertility and alter endometrium transcriptome (Martins et al., 2011b; Davoodi et al., 2016; de Sá Filho et al., 2017). Levels of E_2 at the time of final ovulation of Ovsynch was a predictor of PR/AI. Pregnant cows had greater E_2 levels 56 h after induced luteolysis in comparison to non-pregnant cows (Martins et al., 2011b). Exogenous estradiol administration around proestrus upregulated expression of genes involved with uterine tissue proliferation (de Sá Filho et al., 2017). Behavioral estrus in cows is directly correlated with E_2 levels (Perry et al., 2014). Presence of estrus behavior around AI caused changes in gene expression in the endometrium and CL. Moreover, estrus expression around AI yielded longer embryos, which is correlated with greater embryo survival (Davoodi et al., 2016). One way of increasing E_2 levels prior to TAI is to induce complete luteal regression following the PGF_{2 α} injection.

Complete luteal regression is one critical event that must occur prior to TAI. The presence of a d 7 and 14 CL increases chances of complete luteal regression in comparison to only having a 7-d CL (Stevenson, 2016). Interestingly, cows with greater P₄ at the time of PGF_{2a} had greater luteolysis rates. Moreover, PR/AI increased in cows with higher P₄ at the time of PGF_{2a} (Bello et al., 2006; Martins et al., 2011b). Yet, increasing P₄ levels via induced ovulations and CL formation does not solve the issue of incomplete luteal regression prior to TAI. During a TAI program around 5 - 20% of cows experience incomplete luteal regression (Moreira et al., 2000; Gümen et al., 2003; Brusveen et al., 2009; Martins et al., 2011b). Cows without complete luteal regression have reduced or even null chances of becoming pregnant following TAI (Souza et al., 2007; Martins et al., 2011b). Even decimal point increases in P₄ concentration lead to drastic decrease in PR/AI.

STRATEGIES TO IMPROVE LUTEOLYSIS RATES

Strategies to overcome incomplete luteal regression during TAI programs were tested in experimental and field studies. Addition of a second $PGF_{2\alpha}$ 24 h apart from the first $PGF_{2\alpha}$

treatment was the pioneer strategy to improve luteolysis in a random Ovsynch program. The addition of a second PGF_{2a} successfully increased complete luteolysis in ~11 percentage points in comparison to a single treatment. This study failed to detect increases in PR/AI (Brusveen et al., 2009). A follow-up field study tested this hypothesis in multiple herds. Treatment with 2 doses of PGF_{2a} 24 h apart increased PR/AI in 13% during an Ovsynch program. Treatment with two doses of PGF_{2a} had a linear effect on complete luteolysis and PR/AI as P₄ levels increased at treatment in cows synchronized with DO (Wiltbank et al., 2015). A recently published metanalysis demonstrated a positive effect of adding a second PGF_{2a} in both luteolysis rates and PR/AI (Borchardt et al., 2018).

The next question was if an increased dose instead of increased frequency of PGF_{2a} would result in similar/not inferior luteolysis rates and fertility. Adding injections to a program may decrease its compliance (Stevenson, 2012). Therefore, an increased dose of PGF_{2a} in a single injection would be more practical and efficient than two separate injections. Giordano et al. (2013) increased 50% of CLO dose (0.75 mg vs. 0.5 mg) in a DO program. Treatment with an increased dose of CLO enhanced luteolytic properties and increased PR/AI in multiparous cows. Another study attempted to double the dose of DIN during an Ovsynch program (Barletta et al., 2018). Controversially, doubling the dose of DIN had no effect on luteal regression nor PR/AI. It is possible that the lack of a dose-response was due to DIN short half-life. Even a double dose of DIN would increase its action duration by one half-life (another ~8 minutes). A question that was often asked in both academia and industry was if double dose of CLO could lead to similar/not inferior luteolysis rates and fertility in comparison to two doses of CLO 24 h apart. Cloprostenol sodium has a longer half-life than DIN and therefore may enhance luteolysis when administered in higher doses. Chapter 4 describes a complete randomized study where cows were treated one full dose, two full doses 24 apart and one double dose of CLO during TAI programs. The effects of CLO dose strategy were assessed on PR/AI and luteal function assessed with ultrasonography.

CHAPTER 4

THE EFFECT OF A DOUBLE DOSE OF CLOPROSTENOL SODIUM ON LUTEAL BLOOD FLOW AND PREGNANCY RATES PER AI IN LACTATING DAIRY COWS

Manuscript will be submitted for publication in Journal of Dairy Science

T. Minela, A. Santos, E. J. Schuurmans, J. R. Pursley Department of Animal Science Michigan State University

INTRODUCTION

Insufficient luteolysis with a single dose of PGF_{2a} during Ovsynch limits the potential of fertility programs. Inadequate luteolysis is likely due to the d 7 accessory CL created in these programs to enhance circulating P₄ (Stevenson, 2016). The CL acquires luteolytic capacity around d 6 of the estrous cycle (Nascimento et al., 2014). Many of these young CL created during TAI programs may be too immature to completely regress to a single dose of PGF_{2a}. The luteolytic process can be accelerated by administering multiple PGF_{2a} injections (Brusveen et al., 2009; Ginther et al., 2009; Giordano et al., 2013). Combined data from recent studies indicate that insufficient luteal regression during Ovsynch programs is associated with very low PR/AI (Borchardt et al., 2018). Failure of luteolysis occurs in at least 20% of multiparous cows treated with one dose of PGF_{2a} (Martins et al., 2011b). Thus, amplification of the PGF_{2a}-induced luteolysis in Ovsynch programs appears critical to improve fertility in cows subjected to fertility programs.

There are two $PGF_{2\alpha}$ products approved for use in the U.S. for fertility programs, CLO, and DIN. Cloprostenol sodium has a half-life of approximately 3 h compared to 8 minutes for DIN (Kindahl et al., 1976; Reeves, 1978). Dinoprost is more susceptible to lung metabolization whereas CLO, due to its molecular structure, is more resistant to metabolization (Bourne et al., 1980). Cloprostenol sodium may be more advantageous to increase dose due to potential increased time in circulation that can be attained. A single treatment of an increased dose of DIN did not increase luteolysis rates or fertility during resynchronization with Ovsynch (Barletta et al., 2018). Treatment with double dose of DIN increases its action period by one half-life, or only by ~8 minutes. Increasing the dose of CLO from 0.5 to 0.75 mg, enhanced luteolytic properties and increased P/AI in multiparous cows (Giordano et al., 2013). Double dosing CLO will allow for 0.25 mg to still be in circulation 6 h after treatment. Increasing the time of CL exposure to CLO may result in enhanced luteolytic properties. Cloprostenol sodium enhanced rate of P₄ decrease following a single dose treatment in lactating dairy cows (Martins et al., 2011a).

Two doses of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ 24 h apart increased the percent of cows with complete luteolysis prior TAI in comparison to a single dose of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ (Brusveen et al., 2009). This second dose of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ was broadly implemented in the dairy industry. However, increasing the number of management actions in fertility programs increases labor costs and can result in non-compliance issues (Stevenson, 2012).

Ultrasound measurements have been reported as good predictors of luteal function. Determination of LV and LBF had high positive correlations with P₄ levels during the estrous cycle (Acosta et al., 2002; Herzog et al., 2010). Complete and partial luteolysis were identified with both ultrasound and P₄ assays (Ginther et al., 2007, 2009; Trevisol et al., 2015). However, there is no current evidence that LV or LBF around TAI could act as predictors of pregnancy.

The hypothesis of this study was a double dose of CLO (1.0 mg) would not result in different PR/AI compared to two 0.5 mg doses 24 h apart but would have greater PR/AI compared to a single dose (0.5 mg) in a TAI program. This study also hypothesized that increased (1.0 mg) and more frequent (two 0.5 mg 24 h apart) treatment with CLO would result in a greater reduction in LV and LBF in comparison to a single dose of CLO (0.5 mg). An objective was to determine if LBF measurements before and after treatment can be utilized to predict PR/AI and pregnancy loss.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Units

This project was conducted from October 2018 to June 2019 on a commercial dairy herd, (Nobis Dairy Farm, St. Johns, Michigan, USA). During the study period n = 1,051 cows were available for enrollment in the trial. Cows with health problems were not enrolled (n = 62). Thus,

n = 989 cows were enrolled in the study and assigned to a treatment. After enrollment and treatment, n = 25 were removed from the study. These cows did not receive AI in compliance with the protocol or were removed from the herd prior to pregnancy diagnosis. Outcomes from treatments were collected from n = 964 lactating Holstein cows. They were fed a TMR once a day with free access to feed and water and were confined in a free-stall barn. The TMR consisted of corn, wheat, and alfalfa silages, and corn-soybean meal-based concentrates formulated to meet nutrient recommendations for high producing lactating dairy cows (NRC, 2001). The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Michigan State University approved all animal handling and procedures.

Treatments

Cows ranging from 1st to 7th parity and receiving 1st, 2nd or 3rd service were included in the study (Figure 4.1). Treatments were randomly assigned within 1st (n = 330), 2nd (n = 312) and 3rd+ (n = 322) parities, TAI program (DO for 1st AI; n = 554) or (GGPG for 2nd and 3rd AI; n = 410), and synchronization status (ovulation to both G2 and G3). At d -1 cows were allocated to receive one of the three treatments at d 0: 0.5 mg of CLO (FULL; estroPLAN, Parnell, Overland Park, Kansas, USA; n = 343), the 1st of two 0.5 mg of CLO 24 h apart (TWO/24; n = 316), or 1.0 mg CLO (DOUBLE; n = 305). Cloprostenol and GnRH (GONAbreed, Parnell, Overland Park, Kansas, USA) were administered intramuscularly in either the semitendinosus or semimembranosus muscles. Ovulation to the 2nd and 3rd GnRH injections of Double Ovsynch (G2 and G3) were verified on all cows using ultrasound (MyLab DeltaVET, 10-5 MHz linear array probe, Esaote, Genoa, Italy). Cows were classified into "synchronization" categories (Figure 1) based on ovulation outcomes in the 2nd Ovsynch of Double Ovsynch. Cows that ovulated to both G2 and G3 of Double Ovsynch (n = 689) were considered "synchronized" and cows that ovulated

to only one, or none, of these GnRH injections were considered "non-synchronized" (n = 275). Cows that ovulated to G2 and G3 had at least one d 7 and one d 14 CL on d of treatment (d 0). Cows that ovulated to only G2 or G3 had either a d 14 or 7 CL.



* Ultrasonography: ovulation to GnRH treatments and luteal volume determination

Figure 4.1. Schematic diagram of administered treatments, TAI programs schedule, and data collection. Lactating dairy cows received 1^{st} AI from 75 - 81 DIM following Double-Ovsynch program. Non-pregnant cows were resynchronized with GGPG program and received 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} AI 35 d after the previous AI. At d 0 cows were randomly assigned to receive one out of three treatments at d 0: FULL (0.5 mg of CLO, n = 343), TWO/24 (2 doses of 0.5 mg of CLO 24 h apart, n = 316) or DOUBLE (1.0 mg of CLO, n = 305) dose of cloprostenol sodium. Ultrasound exams were performed on d -7, -1, 2 and 4 in relation to d of treatment. Ovulation to GnRH treatments and luteal volume measurement were determined on those days. Color Doppler assessment was utilized to determine LBF dynamics before (d -1), and 2 and 4 d after CLO treatment.

Pregnancy Diagnoses

Pregnancy was diagnosed on d 24 (Middleton and Pursley, 2019). Blood samples were collected on d 17 and 24 post-AI from the coccygeal vein or artery with serum separation tubes (Venous Blood Collection Tubes: SST, BD Vacutainer, Franklin Lakes, NJ). All samples were stored at 4°C until processing at d 25 post-AI. Samples were centrifuged at 3,000 RPM for 20 minutes to allow serum separation. Weekly ELISA assays (bioPRYN, BioTracking, Moscow,

[†] Color Doppler: luteal blood flow determination

Idaho, USA) were utilized to measure increase of pregnancy specific protein B (PSPB) optical density (OD) levels from d 17 to 24 post-AI. Intra- and inter-assay CV was 4.9 and 5.8 %.

Pregnant cows at d 24 were rechecked by the herd veterinarian on d 34 and 62 post-AI. Pregnancy was diagnosed via transrectal ultrasonography each time. Pregnancy loss was categorized in the following periods: between 24 to 34, 34 to 62, and 62 to 184 d post-AI. Total pregnancy loss included cows that experienced pregnancy loss at any time following the d 24 diagnosis.

Ultrasonography – ovulation, follicle size and luteal volume determination

Linear array ultrasonography was used to map ovaries and describe ovarian dynamics. Each ovary was evaluated three times per session. Ovarian maps were drawn on paper for each session. An electronic video file of each ovarian scan was also saved. Videos were utilized for retrospective consulting and a more reliable evaluation of ovarian changes throughout the pre-treatment and post-treatment periods. The frame-by-frame feature allowed to determine the greatest diameter of any given structure. All measurements were determined using built-in calipers. The first diameter measurement for each structure was horizontal and the second was perpendicular to the 1st measurement.

Ovulation to G2, G3 and G4 was confirmed at d -7, -1 and 4, respectively. Ovulation to G2 was defined as the presence of at least one functional d 7 CL and a DF \geq 8 mm average diameter on d -7. Corpora lutea present on d -7 were re-examined on d -1. Ovulation to G3 was confirmed on d -1 as the presence of a newly formed CL at same ovary and position as the DF measured on d -7. Cows that ovulated to G2 and G3 had at one d 7 and one d 14 CL at treatment with CLO (d 0).
Assessment of follicle size was performed at time of G4. The ovulatory follicle size was calculated as the average of the horizontal diameter and the perpendicular diameter. When more than one follicle ovulated following G4 final follicle size was calculated as the average of both follicles.

A large subset of cows that ovulated to both G2 and G3 were utilized to assess the effects of treatment on luteal volume and blood flow before and after treatment (n = 607). Luteal volume was assessed on all d 7 and 14 CL before treatment (d -1), 2 and 4 after treatment. LV was calculated in mm³ using the formula $V = (4/3) \pi R^3$. Radius (R) was calculated using the formula $R = (D^a / 2 + D^b / 2)/2$. D^a was the horizontal diameter of the CL and D^b was the perpendicular diameter to D^a. CL with a fluid cavity had the cavity volume subtracted from total LV. Cavity volume was calculated with the same formula used for LV. Individual LV was calculated separately for d 7 and d 14 CL. Final d 14 LV was calculated as the average of all CL formed after G2. Final d 7 LV was calculated as the average of all CL formed after G3.

Ultrasonography – luteal blood flow determination

Luteal blood flow from d 7 and 14 CL was assessed before (d -1), and 2 and 4 d after, treatment. Each CL was evaluated utilizing color Doppler. Images showing the greatest LBF concomitantly with the greatest CL diameter and with the least artifacts were used to select the colored pixel area. Luteal blood flow area was determined as colored pixel area. An image editing software (Adobe Photoshop CS3, San Jose, California, USA) was used to select the desired area with a color range selection tool. The method consisted of using an eyedropper tool to select and delete only black, white, and gray tone pixels. The remaining colored pixel area was selected with the same tool. Pixel count was determined by the software output. Luteal blood flow was calculated as the average of 2 pictures from the same CL at each assessment. Luteal blood flow was calculated

for d 7 and d 14 CL individually. Luteal blood flow of cows with more than two d 7 or 14 CL at time of treatment were averaged and the average was reported as one d 7 or 14 CL.

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using SAS (version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina, USA). Luteal volume and LBF measurements are reported as mean ± SEM. Luteal volume and LBF data are reported in two different ways: individual and combined. Individual refers to the individual measurement of LV or LBF of either the d 7 or 14 CL. Combined refers to the sum of LV or LBF in d 7 and 14 CL.

Binomial variables (PR/AI and pregnancy loss) were analyzed with a generalized linear mixed model fitted with PROC GLIMMIX. Differences in proportions were determined using the chi square test of independence. Pregnancy rates per AI were calculated at d 24, 34 and 62 post-AI in three groups of cows. Analyses were performed in all cows to calculate overall PR/AI. Pregnancy rates per AI were also analyzed in cows that ovulated to both G2 and G3 (synchronized cows) and cows that ovulated to either G2 or G3 (non-synchronized cows). Dose of CLO, parity, TAI program and the interaction of TAI program and parity were included in all models. The model utilized to test differences in synchronized cows PR/AI at d 34 post-AI also included the interaction of CLO treatment and TAI program. Interactions were only included when Type III fixed effects *P*-values were < 0.2. Weekly cohorts, cow, AI technician and sire were considered for inclusion as random effects. Random effects integrated the model when covariance parameter estimate was greater than 0. The LSMEANS statement was utilized to slice fixed effects. PROC PLM was used to slice significant interactions.

Differences in proportions were estimated with PROC FREQ. The tables options were utilized to obtain proportions estimates. Mantel-Haenszel Chi-Square was used to test differences in proportions. Descriptive statistics utilized features of PROC FREQ and PROC MEANS.

Combined LV and LBF were analyzed using PROC MIXED at days -1, 2 and 4. The statistical model included the fixed effects of treatment, parity and TAI protocol and the interaction of treatment*parity. The LSMEANS statement was utilized to slice fixed effects. Significant interactions between treatment and parity were sliced with PROC PLM using an output from PROC MIXED. The interactions were sliced between treatments and within parity. Significance level was set at P < 0.05 and adjusted with Tukey-Kramer test for multiplicity.

Predicted probabilities of PR/AI and pregnancy loss was calculated in relation to combined LV and combined LBF before treatment (d -1), 2 and 4 d post-treatment. PSPB OD levels were evaluated on d 24 post-AI as a predictor of pregnancy loss. Wald chi-square was utilized to test the maximum likelihood of pregnancy and pregnancy loss using PROC LOGIT.

RESULTS

Main effects of treatment on pregnancy rate per AI and pregnancy losses

Table 4.1 describes the overall effect of a double dose of cloprostenol sodium (1.0 mg) on PR/AI in lactating dairy cows (n = 964) treated for 1^{st} AI with DO or 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} AI using GGPG. There was no evidence of an effect of CLO dose in PR/AI at 24, 34 or 62 d post-AI in 1^{st} or 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} AI.

There was no evidence of an overall effect of treatment on pregnancy losses at 34, 62, and from 62 d post- AI to parturition (Table 4.2). However, 3rd+ parity cows treated with FULL had greater pregnancy loss in comparison with TWO/24 and DOUBLE (Figure 4.2).

-	r				
Overall PR/AI % (n/n) at:	FULL	TWO/24	DOUBLE	P-value	
24 d post-AI	54.8 (188/343)	49.7 (157/316)	53.8 (164/305)	0.32	
34 d post-AI	47.9 (164/342)	46.5 (147/316)	50.8 (155/305)	0.59	
62 d post-AI	44.8 (151/337)	43.37 (134/309)	46.7 (142/304)	0.69	

Table 4.1. Effect of treating lactating dairy cows with either with FULL (0.5 mg), TWO/24 (2 injections of 0.5 mg 24 h apart), or DOUBLE (1.0 mg) dose of cloprostenol sodium at final PGF_{2a} of Double Ovsynch for 1st AI (n = 554) or GGPG for 2nd and 3rd AI (n = 410) on overall pregnancy rates per AI at 24, 34, and 62 d post-AI. *P*-value refers to the fixed effect of treatment.

	TREATMENT				
	FULL	TWO/24	DOUBLE	<i>P</i> -value	
Pregnancy loss 24 to 34 days	12.3 ^a	6.4 ^{ab}	5.5 ^b	0.07	
post-AI % (n/n)	(23/187)	(10/157)	(9/164)	0.07	
Pregnancy loss 34 to 62 days	5.6 ^a	4.9 ^a	7.8 ^a	074	
post-AI % (n/n)	(9/160)	(7/142)	(12/153)	0.74	
Pregnancy loss 62 days post-AI	3.4 ^a	4.0 ^a	2.3 ^a	056	
to parturition % (n/n)	(5/146)	(5/126)	(3/129)	0.30	

Table 4.2. Effect of treating lactating dairy cows with either with FULL (0.5 mg), TWO/24 (2 injections of 0.5 mg 24 h apart), or DOUBLE (1.0 mg) of cloprostenol sodium at final PGF_{2α} of Double Ovsynch for 1st AI and GGPG for 2nd and 3rd AI combined (n = 964) on pregnancy losses at 34, and 62 post-AI and 62 d post-AI to parturition. The *P*-value refers to the fixed effect of treatment. Values sharing different letter superscripts differed significantly between treatment and within period of pregnancy loss (*P* < 0.05).

Table 4.3 describes the effect of treatment on PR/AI within each parity group (1st, 2nd, and

3rd+). There was no effect of treatment within each parity. Although, 1st and 2nd parity cows had

greater overall PR/AI at each diagnosis compared to 3^{rd} + parity cows (P = 0.02). There were no

significant interactions between parity and treatment.



Figure 4.2. Effect of treatment with FULL (0.5 mg), TWO/24 (2 injections of 0.5 mg 24 h apart), or DOUBLE (1.0 mg) dose of cloprostenol sodium at final PGF_{2a} of Double-Ovsynch and GGPG on pregnancy loss from 24 to 34 d post-AI in lactating dairy cows within 1st (n = 199), 2nd (n = 168), and 3rd+ (n = 141) parities (n = 508). Bars sharing different letter superscripts differed significantly within parity (P < 0.05).

Table 4.4 describes the effect of treatment in cows that "synchronized" thus having at least one d 7 and one d 14 CL at time of treatment. Cows with 7 and 14 d CL accounted for 71% of all cows in the study. Within non-synchronized cows (did not have both a d 7 and 14 CL at treatment) n = 130 had only d 7 CL, n = 106 had only d 14 CL, and n = 16 cows with neither a 7 or a 14 d CL. Synchronized cows treated with FULL had greater PR/AI in comparison to TWO/24 and DOUBLE 24 d post-AI. At 34 and 62 d post-AI there were no differences in synchronized cows at 24, 34 or 62 d post-AI.

Synchronized cows had overall greater PR/AI at 24, 34 and 62 d post-AI in comparison to non-synchronized cows. Ovulation to G2 and G3 increased PR/AI 35% (42 to 57%) at d 24 post-AI. Cows treated with DOUBLE (1.0 mg) had similar PR/AI in both synchronized and non-synchronized groups in contrast to FULL and TWO/24 h treatments that had greater PR/AI in synchronized vs. non-synchronized groups (Table 4.4).

	1 st PARITY				
PR/AI % (n/n) at:	FULL	TWO/24	DOUBLE	<i>P</i> -value	Overall PR/AI PARITY
24 d post-AI	61.1 (69/113)	61.0 (66/109)	59.3 (64/108)	0.97	60.3
34 d post-AI	59.3 (67/113)	57.8 (63/109)	56.5 (61/108)	0.91	57.9
62 d post-AI	55.5 (61/110)	55.6 (60/108)	52.8 (57/108)	0.90	54.6
			2 nd PARITY	7	
24 d post-AI	56.6 (60/106)	50.5 (52/103)	54.4 (56/103)	0.67	53.9
34 d post-AI	50.9 (54/106)	45.6 (47/103)	51.5 (53/103)	0.66	49.4
62 d post-AI	47.1 (49/104)	43.0 (43/100)	46.1 (47/102)	0.83	45.4
			3 rd + PARIT	Y	
24 d post-AI	47.6 (59/124)	37.5 (39/104)	47.0 (44/94)	0.26	44.1*
34 d post-AI	35.0 (43/123)	35.6 (37/104)	43.6 (41/94)	0.37	37.7*
62 d post-AI	33.3 (41/123)	30.7 (31/101)	40.4 (38/94)	0.34	34.6*

Table 4.3. Effect of treating 1st (n = 330) 2nd (n = 312) or 3rd+ (n = 322) parity lactating dairy cows with either FULL (0.5 mg), TWO/24 (2 injections of 0.5 mg 24 h apart), or DOUBLE (1.0 mg) dose of cloprostenol sodium at final PGF_{2α} of Double Ovsynch for 1st AI and GGPG for 2nd and 3rd AI combined on pregnancy rates per AI at 24, 34, and 62 d post-AI. *P*-value refers to proportion of PR/AI between CLO doses within parity. Overall PR/AI of 3rd+ parity cows marked with * differed from 1st and 2nd parity cows at 24, 34 and 62 d post-AI.

Ovulation to GnRH treatments during DO and GGPG

Cows receiving DO for 1st AI had 87% of cows considered synchronized with at least one d 7 and one d 14 CL at the time of treatment (484/554). Cows resynchronized with GGPG had 50% of cows classified as synchronized at the time of treatment (205/410). Individual ovulation rates were 96 and 66% after G2 and 92 and 81% after G3 for cows that received DO and GGPG, respectively.

TREATMENT					
PR/AI % (n/n) at:	FULL	TWO/24	DOUBLE	<i>P</i> -value line	Overall PR/AI
24 d post-AI					
Synchronized	64.2 (131/204)	52.9 (109/206)	53.8 (106/197)	0.03	57.0
Non-Synchronized	38.6 (39/101)	39.8 (35/88)	48.8 (42/86)	0.39	42.2
P-value column	< 0.01	0.03	0.31	-	< 0.01
34 d post-AI					
Synchronized	56.2 (114/203)	51.0 (105/206)	50.8 (100/197)	0.16	52.5
Non-Synchronized	34.7 (35/101)	34.1 (30/88)	46.5 (40/86)	0.22	38.2
P-value column	<0.01	0.01	0.37	-	< 0.01
62 d post-AI					
Synchronized	52.5 (105/200)	47.3 (96/203)	46.9 (92/196)	0.16	48.7
Non-Synchronized	34.0 (34/100)	30.6 (26/85)	41.9 (36/86)	0.35	35.4
P-value column	0.01	0.01	0.31	-	< 0.01

Table 4.4. Effect of treating lactating dairy cows with either FULL (0.5 mg), TWO/24 (2 injections of 0.5 mg 24 h apart), or DOUBLE (1.0 mg) dose of cloprostenol sodium at final PGF_{2 α} of Double-Ovsynch for 1st AI and GGPG for 2nd and 3rd AI that were synchronized with at least one d 7 and one d 14 CL at time of treatment, or not synchronized, on pregnancy rates per AI at 24, 34, and 62 d post-AI.

Overall ovulation rate to G4 was 97% (662/680) in synchronized cows. There was no effect of CLO dose on follicle diameter in cows at G4. Average follicle diameter was 15.9 ± 0.12 , 16.1 ± 0.13 and 16.1 ± 0.14 mm in FULL, TWO/24 and DOUBLE at time of G4. Double ovulation rate totaled 7.4% (49/662) in all cows that ovulated to G4. There was no relationship between proportion of CLO dose and double ovulation. There was no difference in overall PR/AI in cows with double vs. single ovulations (69% vs. 58%). Yet, cows with double ovulations had greater total pregnancy loss compared to cows with single ovulations (29 vs. 14% respectively; P = 0.02).

Effect of treatment on combined LV reduction

There was no effect of treatment on -1 or 2 d after treatment in LV. Yet, cows treated with DOUBLE had significant lower LV in comparison to cows treated with FULL measured at d 4 (Figure 4.3). There were no differences in combined LV amongst 1st and 2nd parity cows at d 2 and 4, regardless of CLO dose. Cows in 3rd+ parity had reduced LV when treated with DOUBLE vs. FULL measured 4 d after treatment (P < 0.05).



Figure 4.3. Effect of treatment with FULL (0.5 mg), TWO/24 (2 injections of 0.5 mg 24 h apart), or DOUBLE (1.0 mg) dose of cloprostenol sodium at final PGF_{2a} of Double-Ovsynch and GGPG on combined luteal volume (mm³) of lactating dairy cows with a d 7 and d 14 CL. Bars sharing different letter superscripts differed significantly within day (P < 0.05).

Effect of treatment on combined LBF reduction

Figure 4.4 describes the effect of CLO dose on LBF reduction in cows with a d 7 and a d 14 CL combination. No differences in combined LBF were observed between CLO treatments before treatment. Cows at 1st AI had greater LBF before treatment in comparison to resynchronized cows. Cows that received DOUBLE had a greater reduction in LBF 2 d after treatment compared to cows treated with FULL. Only 12.3% (75/607) cows had disappearance of d 7 LBF and 4.3% (26/607) had completely regressed d 14 LBF 4 d after treatment.



Figure 4.4. Effect of treatment with FULL (0.5 mg), TWO/24 (2 injections of 0.5 mg 24 h apart), or DOUBLE (1.0 mg) dose of cloprostenol sodium at final PGF_{2a} of Double-Ovsynch and GGPG on combined luteal blood flow (pixel number) of lactating dairy cows with a d 7 and d 14 CL at treatment. Bars sharing different letter superscripts differed significantly within day (P < 0.05). * Indicates a tendency for a significant difference between DOUBLE and FULL.

Treatment with increased or more frequent doses of CLO did not differ in LBF disappearance in 1st and 2nd parity cows. Yet, 3rd+ parity cows had greater disappearance of LBF when treated with DOUBLE compared to FULL, measured at 2 and 4 d after treatment (P < 0.05). *Luteal blood flow disappearance as a predictor of pregnancy*

Total LBF amount measured before treatment was not a predictor of pregnancy on d 24, 34 or 62 post-AI. Combined LBF measured 2 d after treatment was a predictor of pregnancy at d 34, but not at 24 and 62 post-AI. The probability of pregnancy diagnosed at d 34 post-AI increased as LBF amount decreased (P = 0.02). Average combined LBF measured at d 4 was not a significant predictor of pregnancy on d 24 and 62 post-AI. Yet, Average LBF on d 4 after treatment predicted pregnancy 34 d post-AI. Pregnancies increased as LBF decreased (P = 0.046).

We classified cows according to amount of LBF present on d 4 into two groups: LBF above or below the median. The median was calculated separately for d 7 (median = 370 pixels) and d 14 CL (median = 494 pixels). Cows that had at least one CL (d 7 or d 14) with LBF above the median were classified as "above the median". Cows with LBF above the median were considered to fail to completely regress the CL. Cows with LBF of both CL below the median were considered as cows with complete CL regression, due it markedly low LBF. Only 263/607 cows had simultaneous regression of d 7 and d 14 LBF below the median. The proportion of CLO treatment that contributed with simultaneous regression of d 7 and 14 CL was not significantly different (P= 0.3). Cows with regression of both d 7 and d 14 CL had greater P/AI at d 24 post-AI in comparison to cows that did not met this criteria (62.7 vs. 52.6; P = 0.01). Simultaneous regression of d 7 and d 14 also resulted on greater levels of PSPB measured at d 24 post-AI (P < 0.01).

Luteal blood flow amount and PSPB levels as predictors of pregnancy loss

Combined LBF measured on d -1, 2 and 4 did not predict pregnancy loss diagnosed at any time during the study. However, PSPB levels at d 24 post-AI were predictive of early pregnancy loss. Pregnancy losses occurring from d 24 to 34 increased as PSPB levels decreased (P < 0.01). Pregnancy losses that occurred later compared to d 34 post-AI could not be predicted by PSPB levels at d 24 post-AI. Cows that maintained pregnancy had greater PSPB levels at d 24 post-AI in comparison to cows with pregnancy loss diagnosed at any time in the study (0.161 ± 0.002 vs. 0.145 ± 0.004, respectively; P < 0.01). Levels of PSPB measured at d 24 post-AI did not differed between CLO dose strategy (P = 0.6).

DISCUSSION

Outcomes from this study support the use of a double dose of CLO for luteolysis in lactating dairy cows treated with the fertility program DO and GGPG. This is based on three key results: 1) Overall PR/AI was not different in DOUBLE vs. TWO/24, 2) DOUBLE maintained levels of high fertility in both synchronized and non-synchronized cows compared to FULL in which cows had decreased PR/AI in non-synchronized subset, and 3) LV and LBF in 3^{rd} + parity cows decreased to lower levels compared to FULL suggesting that luteolysis in older cows was enhanced with DOUBLE. Complete luteolysis is clearly a requirement for pregnancy in lactating dairy cows treated with fertility programs (Martins et al., 2011). Prostaglandin-F_{2a} products were primarily tested in cattle that would normally have a single CL (Lauderdale et al., 1974). Most data would suggest that luteolysis in beef cattle and dairy heifers was not problematic (Hittinger et al., 2004; Meneghetti et al., 2009). More recently, studies utilizing fertility programs in lactating dairy cows determined that chances of luteolysis appeared to be less and compromised chances for pregnancy (Brusveen et al., 2009; Martins et al., 2011b). The seminal paper from Brusveen et al.

(2009) determined that two doses PGF_{2a} 24 h apart increased the chances for luteolysis compared to a single dose. Evidence indicates that two doses PGF_{2a} 24 h apart is the prevailing choice for dairy producers and veterinarians utilizing fertility programs. Fertility programs are designed to control the onset of follicular waves via the ovulation of a dominant follicle (Wiltbank and Pursley, 2014). These ovulations result in accessory CL that increase P₄ during growth of the pre-ovulatory follicle and reduce the chances of double ovulations (Brusveen et al., 2009; Pursley and Martins, 2012; Martins et al., 2018). Yet, these accessory CL are generally 6 to 8 d old at time of last PGF_{2a} of Ovsynch (Pursley, et al., 1995) dependent on the type of fertility program that was utilized. It is likely the reason the second dose of PGF_{2a} in the Brusveen et al. (2009) study enhanced luteolysis was due to the effect on the less mature d 7 CL at time of PGF_{2a} in DO. Yet, the current study indicated there was no difference in decreases in LBF or LV in the d 7 CL compared to the d 14 CL.

The FULL dose outcomes in the current study were contrary to several other published reports in which two doses of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ outperformed a single dose in terms of fertility and luteolysis rates (Brusveen et al., 2009; Carvalho et al., 2015; Wiltbank et al., 2015; Heidari et al., 2017).

Pregnancy was first diagnosed 24 d post-AI with a novel method that utilizes within-cow differences in PSPB levels (Middleton and Pursley, 2019). Pregnancy loss from d 24 to 34 post-AI was associated with CLO dose and parity. Third-plus parity cows treated with 0.5 mg of CLO experienced greater pregnancy loss from 24 to 34 d post-AI. In the present study, diagnosing pregnancy prior to the usual ~30 d post-AI pregnancy diagnosis allowed for identification of early pregnancy losses that other studies could not detect. There are three pivotal periods of pregnancy loss in lactating dairy cattle. The first period and second period encompass the majority of pregnancy losses in lactating dairy cattle. Pregnancy loss was estimated at 20 - 50% for the first

period (first week of pregnancy) and 25 - 41% for the second period (between d 8 to 27 post-AI). Losses from d 28 to 60 d post-AI were less frequent, around 12% (Wiltbank et al., 2016). Thus, it is a reasonable assumption that multiparous cows treated with a single PGF_{2a} may have lower PR/AI due to greater early pregnancy losses rather than conception failure. Yet, in the present study multiparous cows (2nd and 3rd+ parity) had similar PR/AI between CLO dose strategy at d 24, 34 and 62 post-AI.

Greater pregnancy loss between d 24 and 34 post-AI in 3^{rd} + parity cows treated with FULL could not be explained by luteal function following treatment. Amount of LBF present at d 4 was not a predictor of pregnancy loss diagnosed at any time during the study. Yet, 3^{rd} + parity cows had reduced disappearance of LBF 2 and 4 d after treatment. If true, the connection between this outcome and pregnancy losses is not explainable with other data in the literature. But, a greater proportion of multiparous cows treated with a single dose of PGF_{2a} experienced incomplete luteal regression prior to TAI (Giordano et al., 2013; Wiltbank et al., 2015). A decrease in P₄ prior to TAI is imperative to allow rising E₂ levels and uterine priming (Cerri et al., 2011; Martins et al., 2011a; Northrop et al., 2018). Cows that underwent pregnancy loss between d 24 and 34 had a \geq 10% increase of PSPB levels from d 17 to 24 post-AI. Presence of PSPB in the mother's circulation is indicative that embryonic attachment occurred (Wallace et al., 2015). We speculate that incomplete luteolysis may turn the uterine environment unsuitable for proper embryonic attachment of pregnancy.

Ovulation to GnRH treatments during TAI programs impact overall fertility and luteolysis rates prior to TAI (Bello et al., 2006; Giordano et al., 2013). Based on other studies, ovulation failure to 1st GnRH of Ovsynch (herein referred as G3) results in fewer cows with $P_4 > 1$ ng/mL at PGF_{2 α} (Bello et al., 2006). In cows treated with a single dose of PGF_{2 α}, higher P₄ levels at the time

of treatment increased probability of complete luteolysis (Martins et al., 2011b). Synchronization with DO and GGPG resulted in high ovulation rates to G2 and G3. Aside from high individual ovulation rates, 71% of all cows in this study were synchronized to both G2 AND G3. Ovulation rates to both G2 and G3 were associated with greater fertility. Overall PR/AI at d 24 post-AI increased 35% in synchronized vs. non-synchronized cows, across all CLO dose. Giordano et al., (2013) reported a similar increase (35.6%) in PR/AI in cows that ovulated to G3 in a DO program. Thus, it is possible that the majority of cows in this study had both an optimal hormonal milieu and synchronized ovarian structures to achieve high fertility during DO and GGPG, regardless CLO treatment.

Luteal function was assessed before and after treatment via ultrasonography. The effects of treatment were only verified in synchronized cows that had both a d 7 and 14 CL at CLO treatment. There were no differences in combined LV and LBF before treatment. There was a marked decrease in both combined LV and LBF from d -1 to d following treatment with all CLO dose strategies. Circulating levels of P₄ decrease concomitantly with LV and LBF during PGF_{2α}-induced luteolysis. Yet, Acosta et al. (2002) observed that decrease in LV following PGF_{2α} treatment was somewhat delayed in comparison to LBF and P₄ levels 2 d after treatment. The effect of treating various doses of CLO on combined LBF was detected at d 2 after treatment. Decrease in LBF involves a broad process of angiolysis but is also modulated almost instantly via vasoactive substances that induce increase/decrease in LBF (Reynolds et al., 2000; Miyamoto et al., 2009). Treatment with DOUBLE resulted in lower combined LBF in comparison to FULL. Different than our hypothesis, cows that received TWO/24 had intermediate LBF 2 d after treatment of response, but differences were detected later, at d 4 post-treatment. Decrease in LV is a result of

vast tissue remodeling (Miyamoto et al., 2009). Therefore, morphological effects of such process take longer to be detected with ultrasonography.

Differences on combined LV and LBF reduction between CLO doses were associated with parity. No differences on combined LV or LBF were observed between CLO dose strategy in 1^{st} and 2^{nd} parity cows. Third-plus parity cows were affected differently by different doses of CLO. At d 4 post-treatment 3^{rd} + parity cows had lower combined LV when treated DOUBLE in comparison FULL. Combined LBF was lower in 3^{rd} + parity cows that received DOUBLE in comparison to FULL at d 2 and d 4 after treatment.

Lower combined LV or LBF did not translate into greater PR/AI in cows treated with DOUBLE. Instead, synchronized cows treated with FULL had greater PR/AI at d 24 post-AI. Those were cows that had overall greater combined LBF at d 2, and greater combined LV at d 4 post-treatment. Amount of combined LBF measured at d 2 or 4 post-AI was not a predictor of pregnancy at d 24 post-AI. However, combined LBF measured at d 2 and 4 was as a predictor of pregnancy at d 34 post-AI. Probability of pregnancy increased as combined LBF decreased. Souza et al. (2007) found a similar association with circulating levels of P₄ and probability of pregnancy 58 to 64 d post-AI. Circulating P₄ levels > 0.5 ng/mL 2 d after PGF_{2a} treatment decreased PR/AI in about 50%.

Logistic regression analysis of combined LBF post-treatment provided evidence that greater amount of LBF decreases the probability of pregnancy. Data presented in Chapter 2 indicates that heifers with complete luteal regression had disappearance of LBF 4 d following treatment. However, treatment with different doses of CLO in lactating dairy cows only resulted in a small proportion of cows with complete LBF disappearance (LBF = 0). Thus, different approaches were utilized to determine a cutoff based on combined LBF and verify its relationship

with PR/AI outcomes. Median individual LBF measured 4 d post-treatment was utilized as an indicator of complete luteal regression. Only 263 out of 607 lactating dairy cows met these criteria (43.4%). There was no difference in complete luteal regression between CLO dose strategies. Cows that regressed both d 7 and d 14 LBF below their median cutoff had greater PR/AI at d 24 post-AI. Cows with LBF below the median also had increased levels of PSPSB at d 24 post-AI. Nonetheless, cows that maintained LBF above the median still averaged overall 52.6% PR/AI at d 24 post-AI. This indicates that high LBF around TAI does not interfere with fertility at the same proportion as high P₄ around TAI does.

Accurate cutoffs for luteal regression can be determined when P₄ levels are measured in highly sensitive assays. Previous studies utilized a highly accurate RIA that is no longer available. Even slight increases in P₄ levels detected in the low end of this assay resulted in drastic decrease in PR/AI (Brusveen et al., 2009; Martins et al., 2011a). Utilizing color Doppler was not sensitive enough to capture a similar relationship between LBF and PR/AI. Utilizing the median LBF cutoff only captured a group of cows with markedly low LBF 4 d post-AI. It was not possible to find a precise amount of LBF where pregnancies decreased significantly or stopped happening. It seems that intermediate/high LBF still could be present in regressing CL without negatively impacting chances of pregnancy. In the regressing CL, bFGF is involved with selective cellular death. It allows for large luteal microvessels to remain in the CL and steroidogenic cells to involute (Reynolds et al., 2000). Intermediate LBF detected around the regressing CL could be present in response to vasoactive substances produced in adjacent ovarian structures (i.e. follicles and newly formed CL). It is possible that color Doppler signals detected around regressing CL were from these preserved large microvessels that still were subject to hemodynamic changes induced via vasoactive substances.

In summary, there is no other study published at this time that compared FULL vs. DOUBLE doses of CLO. But there are now at least n = 4 studies (Carvalho et al., 2015; Wiltbank et al., 2015; Heidari et al., 2017; Borchardt et al., 2018) in the literature that compared FULL vs. TWO/24 and reported significant improvements in fertility of lactating dairy cows with an additional dose of CLO or DIN. And another study that indicated TWO/24 enhanced luteolysis compared to FULL (Brusveen et al., 2009). But, in the current study, there were no evidence of differences on overall PR/AI between CLO dose strategies. However, cows treated a FULL (0.5 mg of CLO) experienced greater early pregnancy loss from d 24 to 34 post-AI. The greater proportion of losses was detected within older cows (3rd+ parity) treated with FULL. Third-plus parity cows also had the greatest amount of LV at d 4, and greatest LBF at d 2 and 4 after treatment with FULL which could explain the differences. Multiparous cows (2^{nd} and 3^{rd} + parity) did not have greater PR/AI when treated TWO/24 or DOUBLE. Surprisingly, synchronized cows that received FULL had greater PR/AI at 24 d, but not at 34 and 62 d post-AI. Interestingly, PR/AI in cows that received DOUBLE did not differ between the two synchronization statuses. Synchronized cows treated with DOUBLE had similar PR/AI in comparison to non-synchronized cows at d 24, 34 and 62 post-AI. High ovulation rates following GnRH treatments of DO and GGPG were the main factor to modulate PR/AI outcomes in this dataset. Amount of LBF present at d 2 and 4 post-treatment was a predictor of pregnancy 34 d post-AI. There was a decrease in PR/AI when cows had LBF above the median cutoff at d 4 post-treatment. However, LBF measured with color Doppler at a d 4 was not sensitive enough to detect complete luteal regression in lactating dairy cows.

We recommend that multiparous cows should be treated with double doses of CLO in order to avoid lower fertility in non-synchronized cows and greater pregnancy losses. Treatment with double dose of CLO (1.0 mg) will have a dramatic impact on the amount of labor needed for an additional dose a day later. Thus, double dosing CLO will have a positive impact on dairy profit.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

Acosta, T.J., K.G. Hayashi, M. Ohtani, and A. Miyamoto. 2003. Local changes in blood flow within the preovulatory follicle wall and early corpus luteum in cows. Reproduction 125:759–767. doi:10.1530/rep.0.1250759.

Acosta, T.J., N. Yoshizawa, M. Ohtani, and A. Miyamoto. 2002. Local changes in blood flow within the early and midcycle corpus luteum after prostaglandin-F2 α injection in the cow. Biol. Reprod. 66:651–658. doi:10.1095/biolreprod66.3.651.

Alila, H.W., and W. Hansel. 1984. Origin of different cell types in the bovine corpus luteum as characterized by specific monoclonal antibodies. Biol. Reprod. 31:1015–1025.

Andrade, J.P.N., F.S. Andrade, Y.B. Guerson, R.R. Domingues, V.E. Gomez-León, T.O. Cunha, J.C.F. Jacob, J.N. Sales, J.P.N. Martins, and M.R.B. Mello. 2019. Early pregnancy diagnosis at 21 days post artificial insemination using corpus luteum vascular perfusion compared to corpus luteum diameter and/or echogenicity in Nelore heifers. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 209:2–8. doi:10.1016/j.anireprosci.2019.106144.

Armstrong, D.T., and W. Hansel. 1959. Alteration of the bovine estrous cycle with oxytocin. J. Dairy Sci. 42:533–542. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(59)90607-1.

Atli, M.O., R.W. Bender, V. Mehta, M.R. Bastos, W. Luo, C.M. Vezina, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2012. Patterns of gene expression in the bovine corpus luteum following repeated intrauterine infusions of low doses of prostaglandin-F2α. Biol. Reprod. 86:1–13. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.111.094870.

Augustin, H.G. 2000. Vascular morphogenesis in the ovary. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol. 14:867–882. doi:10.1053/beog.2000.0132.

Augustin, H.G. 2005. Angiogenesis in the female reproductive system.

Baird, D.T., and A.S. McNeilly. 1981. Gonadotrophic control of follicular development and function during the oestrous cycle of the ewe. J. Reprod. Fertil. 119–133. doi:10.1530/biosciprocs.1.012.

Barletta, R. V., P.D. Carvalho, V.G. Santos, L.F. Melo, C.E. Consentini, A.S. Netto, and P.M. Fricke. 2018. Effect of dose and timing of prostaglandin F2 α treatments during a Resynch protocol on luteal regression and fertility to timed artificial insemination in lactating Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 101:1730–1736. doi:10.3168/jds.2017-13628.

Bauer, M., I. Reibiger, and K. Spanel-Borowski. 2001. Leucocyte proliferation in the bovine corpus luteum. Reproduction 121:297–305. doi:10.1530/rep.0.1210297.

Beck, T.W., V.G. Smith, B.E. Seguin, and E.M. Convey. 1976. Bovine serum LH, GH and prolactin following chronic implantation of ovarian steroids and subsequent ovariectomy. J. Anim. Sci. 42:461–468.

Bello, N.M., J.P. Steibel, and J.R. Pursley. 2006. Optimizing ovulation to first GnRH improved outcomes to each hormonal injection of Ovsynch in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89:3413–3424. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72378-5.

Bergfeld, E.G.M., F.N. Kojima, A.S. Cupp, M.E. Wehrman, K.E. Peters, V. Mariscal, T. Sanchez, and J.E. Kinder. 1996. Changing dose of progesterone results in sudden changes in frequency of luteinizing hormone pulses and secretion of 17β -estradiol in bovine females. Biol. Reprod. 54:546–553. doi:10.1095/biolreprod54.3.546.

Berisha, B., D. Schams, M. Kosmann, W. Amselgruber, and R. Einspanier. 2000. Expression and tissue concentration of vascular endothelial growth factor, its receptors, and localization in the bovine corpus luteum during estrous cycle and pregnancy. Biol. Reprod. 63:1106–1114. doi:10.1095/biolreprod63.4.1106.

Berisha, B., D. Schams, and A. Miyamoto. 2002. The expression of angiotensin and endothelin system members in bovine corpus luteum during estrous cycle and pregnancy. Endocrine 19:305–312. doi:10.1385/ENDO:19:3:305.

Berisha, B., D. Schams, D. Rodler, and M.W. Pfaffl. 2016. Angiogenesis in the ovary - the most important regulatory event for follicle and corpus luteum development and function in cow - An overview. J. Vet. Med. Ser. C Anat. Histol. Embryol. 45:124–130. doi:10.1111/ahe.12180.

Bernard, D.J., J. Fortin, Y. Wang, and P. Lamba. 2010. Mechanisms of FSH synthesis: what we know, what we don't, and why you should care. Fertil. Steril. 93:2465–2485. doi:10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.03.034.

Bert, W.O., and W.T. Schrader. 1976. The receptors of steroid hormones. Sci. Am. 234:32–43. doi:10.1038/scientificamerican0276-32.

Bisinotto, R.S., and J.E.P. Santos. 2012. The use of endocrine treatments to improve pregnancy rates in cattle. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 24:258–266. doi:10.1071/RD11916.

Boer, H.M.T., R.F. Veerkamp, B. Beerda, and H. Woelders. 2010. Estrous behavior in dairy cows: Identification of underlying mechanisms and gene functions. Animal 4:446–453. doi:10.1017/S1751731109991169.

Borchardt, S., A. Pohl, P.D. Carvalho, P.M. Fricke, and W. Heuwieser. 2018. Short communication: Effect of adding a second prostaglandin F2α injection during the Ovsynch protocol on luteal regression and fertility in lactating dairy cows: A meta-analysis. J. Dairy Sci. 101:8566–8571. doi:10.3168/jds.2017-14191.

Bourne, R., P.J. Phillips, and B. Shuker. 1980. The metabolic fate of the synthetic prostaglandin cloprostenol ('Estrumate') in the cow: use of ion cluster techniques to facilitate metabolite identification. Biomed. Mass Spectrom. 7:226–230.

Brännström, M., L. Giesecke, I.C. Moore, C.J. van den Heuvel, and S.A. Robertson. 1994. Leukocyte subpopulations in the rat corpus luteum during pregnancy and pseudopregnancy. Biol. Reprod. 50:1161–1167. doi:10.1095/biolreprod50.5.1161.

Brusveen, D.J., A.P. Cunha, C.D. Silva, P.M. Cunha, R.A. Sterry, E.P.B. Silva, J.N. Guenther, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2008. Altering the time of the second gonadotropin-releasing hormone injection and Artificial Insemination (Al) during Ovsynch affects pregnancies per Al in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 91:1044–1052. doi:10.3168/jds.2007-0409.

Brusveen, D.J., A.H. Souza, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2009. Effects of additional prostaglandin F2 α and estradiol-17 β during Ovsynch in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92:1412–1422. doi:10.3168/jds.2008-1289.

Butler, S.T., S.H. Pelton, P.G. Knight, and W.R. Butler. 2008. Follicle-stimulating hormone isoforms and plasma concentrations of estradiol and inhibin A in dairy cows with ovulatory and non-ovulatory follicles during the first postpartum follicle wave. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 35:112–119. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2008.03.002.

Caraviello, D.Z., K.A. Weigel, P.M. Fricke, M.C. Wiltbank, M.J. Florent, N.B. Cook, K. V. Nordlund, N.R. Zwald, and C.L. Rawson. 2006. Survey of management practices on reproductive performance of dairy cattle on large US commercial farms. J. Dairy Sci. 89:4723–4735. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72522-X.

Carvalho, P.D., M.J. Fuenzalida, A. Ricci, A.H. Souza, R. V. Barletta, M.C. Wiltbank, and P.M. Fricke. 2015. Modifications to Ovsynch improve fertility during resynchronization: Evaluation of presynchronization with gonadotropin-releasing hormone 6 d before initiation of Ovsynch and addition of a second prostaglandin F2 α treatment. J. Dairy Sci. 98:8741–8752. doi:10.3168/jds.2015-9719.

Cerri, R.L.A., R.C. Chebel, F. Rivera, C.D. Narciso, R.A. Oliveira, W.W. Thatcher, and J.E.P. Santos. 2011. Concentration of progesterone during the development of the ovulatory follicle: I. Ovarian and embryonic responses. J. Dairy Sci. 94:3342–3351. doi:10.3168/jds.2010-3734.

Cerri, R.L.A., H.M. Rutigliano, R.C. Chebel, and J.E.P. Santos. 2009. Period of dominance of the ovulatory follicle influences embryo quality in lactating dairy cows. Reproduction 137:813–823. doi:10.1530/REP-08-0242.

Chenault, J.R., W.W. Thatcher, P.S. Kalra, R.M. Abrams, and C.J. Wilcox. 1975. Transitory changes in plasma progestins, estradiol, and luteinizing hormone approaching ovulation in the bovine. J. Dairy Sci. 58:709–717. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(75)84632-7.

Conley, A.J., and S.P. Ford. 1989. Effects of TPA, A23187, and Prostaglandin F2 α on progesterone synthesis by dispersed ovine luteal cells. Biol. Reprod. 40:1224–1230. doi:10.1095/biolreprod40.6.1224.

Copelin, J.P., M.F. Smith, H.A. Garverick, and R.S. Youngquist. 1987. Effect of the uterus on subnormal luteal function in anestrous beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 64:1506–1511. doi:10.2527/jas1987.6451506x.

Davoodi, S., R.F. Cooke, A.C.C. Fernandes, B.I. Cappellozza, J.L.M. Vasconcelos, and R.L.A. Cerri. 2016. Expression of estrus modifies the gene expression profile in reproductive tissues on Day 19 of gestation in beef cows. Theriogenology 85:645–655. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2015.10.002.

Fairchild, D.L., and J.L. Pate. 1991. Modulation of bovine luteal cell synthetic capacity by Interferon-γ. Biol. Reprod. 44:357–363. doi:10.1095/biolreprod44.2.357.

Farin, C.E., C.L. Moeller, H.R. Sawyer, F. Gamboni, and G.D. Niswender. 1986. Morphometric analysis of cell types in the ovine corpus luteum throughout the estrous cycle. Biol. Reprod. 35:1299–1308. doi:10.1095/biolreprod35.5.1299.

Feliciano, M.A., M.E. Oliveira, and W.R. Vicente. 2003. Doppler colorido.

Fink, G. 1979. Neuroendocrine control of gonadotrophin secretion. Br. Med. Bull. 35:155–160. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.bmb.a071563.

Ford, S.P., and J.R. Chenault. 1981. Blood flow to the corpus luteum-bearing ovary and ipsilateral uterine horn of cows during the oestrous cycle and early pregnancy. J. Reprod. Fertil. 62:555–562.

Fricke, P.M. 2002. Scanning the future - Ultrasonography as a reproductive management tool for dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 85:1918–1926. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74268-9.

Fricke, P.M., A. Ricci, J.O. Giordano, and P.D. Carvalho. 2016. Methods for and implementation of pregnancy diagnosis in dairy cows. Vet. Clin. North Am. - Food Anim. Pract. 32:165–180. doi:10.1016/j.cvfa.2015.09.006.

Fukuoka, M., K. Yasuda, H. Fujiwara, H. Kanzaki, and T. Mori. 1992. Interactions between interferon γ , tumour necrosis factor α , and interleukin-1 in modulating progesterone and oestradiol production by human luteinized granulosa cells in culture. Hum. Reprod. 7:1361–1364. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a137574.

Galvão, K.N., M.F. Sá Filho, and J.E.P. Santos. 2007. Reducing the interval from presynchronization to initiation of timed artificial insemination improves fertility in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90:4212–4218. doi:10.3168/jds.2007-0182.

Garret, J.E., R.D. Geisert, M.T. Zavy, L.K. Gries, R.P. Wettemann, and D.S. Buchanan. 1988. Effect of exogenous progesterone on prostaglandin F2α release and the interestrous interval in the bovine. Prostaglandins 36:85–96. doi:10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.

Ginther, O.J. 2000. Selection of the dominant follicle in cattle and horses. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 60–61:61–79. doi:10.1016/S0378-4320(00)00083-X.

Ginther, O.J., R.R. Araujo, M.P. Palhão, B.L. Rodrigues, and M.A. Beg. 2009. Necessity of sequential pulses of prostaglandin F2alpha for complete physiologic luteolysis in cattle. Biol. Reprod. 80:641–648. doi:10.21451/1984-3143-AR865.

Ginther, O.J., D.R. Bergfelt, L.J. Kulick, and K. Kot. 1998. Pulsatility of Systemic FSH and LH Concentrations During Follicular-Wave Development in Cattle. Theriogenology 50:507–519.

Ginther, O.J., and C.H. Del Campo. 1973. Vascular anatomy of the uterus and ovaries and the unilateral luteolytic effect of the uterus: cattle. Am. J. Vet. Res. 35:193–203.

Ginther, O.J., J.P. Kastelic, and L. Knopf. 1989. Composition and characteristics of follicular waves during the bovine estrous cycle. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 20:187–200. doi:10.1016/0378-4320(89)90084-5.

Ginther, O.J., and R.A. Pierson. 1984. Ultrasonic anatomy of equine ovaries. Theriogenology 21:471–483. doi:10.1016/0093-691X(84)90409-6.

Ginther, O.J., L.A. Silva, R.R. Araujo, and M.A. Beg. 2007. Temporal associations among pulses of 13,14-Dihydro-15-keto-PGF2alpha, luteal blood flow, and luteolysis in cattle. Biol. Reprod. 76:506–513. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.106.057653.

Giordano, J.O., M.C. Wiltbank, P.M. Fricke, S. Bas, R. Pawlisch, J.N. Guenther, and A.B. Nascimento. 2013. Effect of increasing GnRH and PGF2α dose during Double-Ovsynch on ovulatory response, luteal regression, and fertility of lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology 80:773–783. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2013.07.003.

Girsh, E., W. Wang, R. Mamluk, F. Arditi, A. Friedman, R.A. Milvae, and R. Meidan. 1996. Regulation of Endothelin-1 expression in the bovine corpus luteum: elevation by prostaglandin $F2\alpha$. Endocrinology 137:5191–5196.

Grazzini, E., G. Guillon, B. Mouillac, and H.H. Zingg. 1998. Inhibition of oxytocin receptor function by direct binding of progesterone. Nature 392:509–512. doi:10.1038/33176.

Greenwald, G.S. 1973. Distinction between developing and reserve follicles in the cyclic hamster. Ann. Biol. Anim. Biochim. Biophys. 13:199–210. doi:10.1051/rnd:19730519.

Groenendaal, H., D.T. Galligan, and H.A. Mulder. 2004. An economic spreadsheet model to determine optimal breeding and replacement decisions for dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 87:2146–2157. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)70034-X.

Guimarães, C.R.B., M.E. Oliveira, J.R. Rossi, C.A.C. Fernandes, J.H.M. Viana, and M.P. Palhao. 2015. Corpus luteum blood flow evaluation on Day 21 to improve the management of embryo recipient herds. Theriogenology 84:237–241. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2015.03.005.

Gümen, A., J.N. Guenther, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2003. Follicular size and response to Ovsynch versus detection of estrus in anovular and ovular lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86:3184–3194. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73921-6.

Hanahan, D. 1997. Signaling vascular morphogenesis and maintenance. Science. 277:48–50.

Hansel, W., H.W. Alila, J.P. Dowd, and R.A. Milvae. 1991. Differential origin and control mechanisms in small and large bovine luteal cells. J. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl. 43:77–89. doi:10.1530/biosciprocs.2.007.

Hansel, W., M. Shemesh, and J. Lukaszewska. 1975. Extraction, isolation and identification of a luteolytic substance from bovine endometrium. Biol. Reprod. 13:30–37.

Hayashi, K., and A. Miyamoto. 1999. Angiotensin II interacts with Prostaglandin F2 α and Endothelin-1 as a local luteolytic factor in the bovine corpus luteum in vitro. Biol. Reprod. 60:1104–1109. doi:10.1095/biolreprod60.5.1104.

Heidari, F., E. Dirandeh, Z. Ansari Pirsaraei, and M.G. Colazo. 2017. Modifications of the G6G timed-AI protocol improved pregnancy per AI and reduced pregnancy loss in lactating dairy cows. Animal 1–8. doi:10.1017/S1751731117000520.

Herlihy, M.M., J.O. Giordano, A.H. Souza, H. Ayres, R.M. Ferreira, A. Keskin, A.B. Nascimento, J.N. Guenther, J.M. Gaska, S.J. Kacuba, M.A. Crowe, S.T. Butler, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2012. Presynchronization with Double-Ovsynch improves fertility at first postpartum artificial insemination in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95:7003–7014. doi:10.3168/jds.2011-5260.

Herzog, K., M. Brockhan-Lüdemann, M. Kaske, N. Beindorff, V. Paul, H. Niemann, and H. Bollwein. 2010. Luteal blood flow is a more appropriate indicator for luteal function during the bovine estrous cycle than luteal size. Theriogenology 73:691–697. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2009.11.016.

Hittinger, M.A., J.D. Ambrose, and J.P. Kastelic. 2004. Luteolysis, onset of estrus, and ovulation in Holstein heifers given prostaglandin F2 α concurrent with, or 24 hours prior to, removal of an intravaginal, progesterone-releasing device. Can. J. Vet. Res. 68:283–287. doi:10.7939/R3SN01H91.

Hopko Ireland, J.L., and J.J. Ireland. 1994. Changes in expression of inhibin/activin a, bA and bB subunit messenger ribonucleic acids following increases in size and during different stages of differentiation or atresia of non-ovulatory follicles in cows. Biol. Reprod. 50:492–501.

Howard, H.J., and J.H. Britt. 1990. Prostaglandin F-2 α causes regression of an hCG-induced corpus luteum before Day 5 of its lifespan in cattle. J. Reprod. Fertil. 90:245–253.

Ireland, J.J., and J.F. Roche. 1982. Effect of progesterone on basal LH and episodic LH and FSH secretion in heifers. J. Reprod. Fertil. 64:295–302.

Janson, P.O., and I. Albrecht. 1975. Methodological aspects of blood flow measurement in ovaries containing corpora lutea. J. Appl. Physiol. 38:288–293. doi:10.1152/jappl.1975.38.2.288.

Janson, P.O., J.E. Damber, and C. Axen. 1981. Luteal blood flow and progesterone secretion in pseudopregnant rabbits. J. Reprod. Fertil. 63:491–497. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0630491.

Kaltenbach, C.C., T.G. Dunn, T.E. Kiser, L.R. Corah, A.M. Akbar, and G.D. Niswender. 1974. Release of FSH and LH in beef heifers by synthetic gonadotrophin releasing hormone. J. Anim. Sci. 38:357–362.

Kindahl, H., L. Edqvist, A. Bane, and E. Granström. 1976. Blood levels of progesterone and 15keto-13,14-dihydro-prostaglandin F2 α during the normal oestrous cycle and early pregnancy in heifers. Acta Endocrinol. (Copenh). 82:134–149.

Klagsbrun, M., and P.A. D'Amore. 1991. Regulators of angiogenesis. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 53:217–239. doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.53.1.217.

Kobayashi, S., B. Berisha, W.M. Amselgruber, D. Schams, and A. Miyamoto. 2001. Production and localisation of angiotensin II in the bovine early corpus luteum: A possible interaction with luteal angiogenic factors and prostaglandin F2 α . J. Endocrinol. 170:369–380. doi:10.1677/joe.0.1700369.

Korzekwa, A., S. Murakami, I. Wocławek-Potocka, M.M. Bah, K. Okuda, and D.J. Skarzynski. 2008a. The influence of tumor necrosis factor α (TNF) on the secretory function of bovine corpus luteum: TNF and its receptors expression during the estrous cycle. Reprod. Biol. 8:245–262. doi:10.1016/s1642-431x(12)60015-1.

Korzekwa, A.J., J.J. Jaroszewski, I. Woclawek-Potocka, M.M. Bah, and D.J. Skarzynski. 2008b. Luteolytic effect of prostaglandin F2 α on bovine corpus luteum depends on cell composition and contact. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 43:464–472. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0531.2007.00936.x.

Larson, L.L., and P.J.M. Ball. 1992. Regulation of estrous cycles in dairy cattle: A review. Theriogenology 38:255–267.

Lauderdale, J.W., B.E. Seguin, J.N. Stellflug, J.R. Chenault, W.W. Thatcher, C.K. Vincent, and A.F. Loyancano. 1974. Fertility of cattle following PGF2a injection. J. Anim. Sci. 38:964–967.

Leavitt, W.W., W.C. Okulicz, J.A. Mccracken, W. Schramm, and W.F. Robidoux. 1985. Rapid recovery of nuclear estrogen receptor and oxytocin receptor in the ovine uterus following progesterone withdrawal. J. Steroid Biochem. 22:687–691. doi:10.1016/0022-4731(85)90272-9. Liptak, A.R., B.T. Sullivan, L.E. Henkes, M.P.B. Wijayagunawardane, A. Miyamoto, J.S. Davis, B.R. Rueda, and D.H. Townson. 2005. Cooperative expression of monocyte chemoattractant

protein 1 within the bovine corpus luteum: evidence of immune cell-endothelial cell interactions in a coculture system. Biol. Reprod. 72:1169–1176. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.104.032953.

Lopes, G., J.O. Giordano, A. Valenza, M.M. Herlihy, J.N. Guenther, M.C. Wiltbank, and P.M. Fricke. 2013. Effect of timing of initiation of resynchronization and presynchronization with gonadotropin-releasing hormone on fertility of resynchronized inseminations in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96:3788–3798. doi:10.3168/jds.2012-6429.

Lopez, H., L.D. Satter, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2004. Relationship between level of milk production and estrous behavior of lactating dairy cows. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 81:209–223. doi:10.1016/j.anireprosci.2003.10.009.

Louis, T.M., H.D. Hafs, and B.E. Seguin. 1972. Progesterone, LH, estrus and ovulation after Prostaglandin F2 α in heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 143:152–155.

Lucy, M.C., J.D. Savio, L. Badinga, R.L. De La Sota, and W.W. Thatcher. 1992. Factors that affect ovarian follicular dynamics in cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 70:3615–3626. doi:10.2527/1992.70113615x.

Lukaszewaska, J.H., and W. Hansel. 1970. Extraction and partial purification of luteolytic activity from bovine endometrial tissue. Endocrinology 13:30–37. doi:10.1210/endo-86-2-261.

Lüttgenau, J., N. Beindorff, S.E. Ulbrich, J.P. Kastelic, and H. Bollwein. 2011. Low plasma progesterone concentrations are accompanied by reduced luteal blood flow and increased size of the dominant follicle in dairy cows. Theriogenology 76:12–22. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2010.12.025.

Lüttgenau, J., and H. Bollwein. 2014. Evaluation of bovine luteal blood flow by using color Doppler ultrasonography. Reprod. Biol. 14:103–109. doi:10.1016/j.repbio.2014.03.003.

Martins, J.P., R.K. Policelli, and J.R. Pursley. 2011a. Luteolytic effects of cloprostenol sodium in lactating dairy cows treated with G6G/Ovsynch. J. Dairy Sci. 94:2806–2814.

Martins, J.P.N., R.K. Policelli, L.M. Neuder, W. Raphael, and J.R. Pursley. 2011b. Effects of cloprostenol sodium at final prostaglandin F2 α of Ovsynch on complete luteolysis and pregnancy per artificial insemination in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94:2815–2824. doi:10.3168/jds.2010-3652.

Martins, J.P.N., D. Wang, N. Mu, G.F. Rossi, A.P. Martini, V.R. Martins, and J.R. Pursley. 2018. Level of circulating concentrations of progesterone during ovulatory follicle development affects timing of pregnancy loss in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 101:10505–10525. doi:10.3168/jds.2018-14410.

McCracken, J.A. 1980. Hormone receptor control of prostaglandin F2 alpha secretion by the ovine uterus. Adv. Prostaglandin Thromboxane Res. 8:1329.

McCracken, J.A., B. Barcikowski, J.C. Carlson, K. Gréen, and B. Samuelsson. 1973. The physiological role of prostaglandin F2alpha in corpus luteum regression. Adv. Biosci. 9:599–624.

Mccracken, J.A., E.E. Custer, and J.C. Lamsa. 1999. Luteolysis: A neuroendocrine-mediated event. Physiol. Rev. 79:263–324. doi:10.1152/physrev.1999.79.2.263.

McCracken, J.A., M.E. Glew, and R.J. Scaramuzzi. 1970. Corpus luteum regression induced by prostaglandin F2a. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 30:544–546. doi:10.1097/00006254-197011000-00017.

McNeilly, A.S. 1988. The control of FSH secretion. Acta Endocrinol. Suppl. 288:31-40.

Meidan, R., E. Girsh, O. Blum, and E. Aberdam. 1990. In vitro differentiation of bovine theca and granulosa cells intos small and large luteal-like cells: morphological and functionals characteristics. Biol. Reprod. 43:913–921. doi:10.1016/0010-4655(80)90012-0.

Meidan, R., N. Levy, T. Kisliouk, L. Podlovny, M. Rusiansky, and E. Klipper. 2005. The yin and yang of corpus luteum-derived endothelial cells: Balancing life and death. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 29:318–328. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2005.04.003.

Meneghetti, M., O.G.S. Filho, R.F.G. Peres, G.C. Lamb, and J.L.M. Vasconcelos. 2009. Fixedtime artificial insemination with estradiol and progesterone for Bos indicus cows I: Basis for development of protocols. Theriogenology 72:179–189. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2009.02.010.

Miceli, F., F. Minici, M.G. Pardo, P. Navarra, C. Proto, S. Mancuso, A. Lanzone, and R. Apa. 2015. Biosynthesis and release by human luteal cells: evidence of a new paracrine/autocrine regulation of luteal function. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86:811–817.

Middleton, E.L., T. Minela, and J.R. Pursley. 2019. The high-fertility cycle: How timely pregnancies in one lactation may lead to less body condition loss, fewer health issues, greater fertility, and reduced early pregnancy losses in the next lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 102:5577–5587. doi:10.3168/jds.2018-15828.

Middleton, E.L., and J.R. Pursley. 2019. Short communication: Blood samples before and after embryonic attachment accurately determine non-pregnant lactating dairy cows at 24 d post-artificial insemination using a commercially available assay for pregnancy-specific protein B. J. Dairy Sci. 102:7570–7575. doi:10.3168/jds.2018-15961.

Mihm, M., P.J. Baker, J.L.H. Ireland, G.W. Smith, P.M. Coussens, A.C.O. Evans, and J.J. Ireland. 2006. Molecular evidence that growth of dominant follicles involves a reduction in follicle-stimulating hormone dependence and an increase in luteinizing hormone dependence in cattle. Biol. Reprod. 74:1051–1059. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.105.045799.

Mihm, M., M.A. Crowe, P.G. Knight, and E.J. Austin. 2002. Follicle wave growth in cattle. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 37:191–200. doi:10.1046/j.1439-0531.2002.00371.x.

Milgrom, E., L. Thi, M. Atger, and E.E. Baulieu. 1973. Mechanisms regulating the concentration and the conformation of progesterone receptor(s) in the uterus. J. Biol. Chem. 248:6366–6374.

Milvae, R.A., and W. Hansel. 1983. Prostacyclin, prostaglandin and progesterone production by bovine luteal cells during the estrous cycle. Biol. Reprod. 29:1063–1068.

Miyamoto, A., S. Kobayashi, S. Arata, M. Ohtani, Y. Fukui, and D. Schams. 1997. Prostaglandin F2 α promotes the inhibitory action of endothelin-1 on the bovine luteal function in vitro. J. Endocrinol. 152:R7–R11.

Miyamoto, A., H. v. Lützow, and D. Schams. 1993. Acute actions of prostaglandin F2 α , E2, and 12 in microdialyzed bovine corpus luteum in vitro. Biol. Reprod. 49:423–430. doi:10.1095/biolreprod49.2.423.

Miyamoto, A., K. Okuda, F.J. Schweigert, and D. Schams. 1992. Effects of basic fibroblast growth factor, transforming growth factor- β and nerve growth factor on the secretory function of the bovine corpus luteum in vitro. J. Endocrinol. 135:103–114. doi:10.1677/joe.0.1350103.

Miyamoto, A., and K. Shirasuna. 2009. Luteolysis in the cow: a novel concept of vasoactive molecules. Anim. Reprod. 6:47–59.

Miyamoto, A., K. Shirasuna, and K. Sasahara. 2009. Local regulation of corpus luteum development and regression in the cow: Impact of angiogenic and vasoactive factors. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 37:159–169. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2009.04.005.

Miyamoto, A., K. Shirasuna, M.P.B. Wijayagunawardane, S. Watanabe, M. Hayashi, D. Yamamoto, M. Matsui, and T.J. Acosta. 2005. Blood flow: A key regulatory component of corpus luteum function in the cow. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 29:329–339. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2005.03.011.

Miyazaki, T., M. Tanaka, K. Miyakoshi, K. Minegishi, K. Kasai, and Y. Yoshimura. 1998. Power and colour Doppler ultrasonography for the evaluation of the vasculature of the human corpus luteum. Hum. Reprod. 13:2836–2841. doi:10.1093/humrep/13.10.2836.

Moor, R.M., and L.E. Rowson. 1966. Local uterine mechanisms affecting luteal function in the sheep. J. Reprod. Fertil. 11:307–310. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0110307.

Moore, C.R., and D. Price. 1932. Gonad hormone functions, and the reciprocal influence between gonads and hypophysis with its bearing on the problem of sex hormone antagonism. Am. J. Anat. 50:13–71. doi:10.1002/aja.1000500103.

Moreira, F., R.L. De La Sota, T. Diaz, and W.W. Thatcher. 2000. Effect of day of the estrous cycle at the initiation of a timed artificial insemination protocol on reproductive responses in dairy heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 78:1568–1576. doi:10.2527/2000.7861568x.

Moreira, F., C. Orlandi, C.A. Risco, R. Mattos, F. Lopes, and W.W. Thatcher. 2001. Effects of presynchronization and bovine somatotropin on pregnancy rates to a timed artificial insemination

protocol in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84:1646-1659. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)74600-0.

Nancarrow, C.D., J. Buckmaster, W. Chamley, R.I. Cox, I.A. Cumming, L. Cummins, J.P. Drinan, J.K. Findlay, J.R. Goding, B.J. Restall, W. Schneider, and G.D. Thorburn. 1973. Hormonal changes around oestrus in the cow. J. Reprod. Fertil. 32:320–321. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0320320.

Nascimento, A.B., A.H. Souza, A. Keskin, R. Sartori, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2014. Lack of complete regression of the Day 5 corpus luteum after one or two doses of PGF2α in nonlactating Holstein cows. Theriogenology 81:389–395. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2013.10.009.

Neuvians, T.P., B. Berisha, and D. Schams. 2004a. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) expression during induced luteolysis in the bovine corpus luteum. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 67:389–395. doi:10.1002/mrd.20032.

Neuvians, T.P., D. Schams, B. Berisha, and M.W. Pfaffl. 2004b. Involvement of pro-inflammatory cytokines, mediators of inflammation, and basic fibroblast growth factor in Prostaglandin F2 α -induced luteolysis in bovine corpus luteum. Biol. Reprod. 70:473–480. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.103.016154.

Nio-Kobayashi, J., K. Miyazaki, K. Hashiba, K. Okuda, and T. Iwanaga. 2016. Histological analysis of arteriovenous anastomosis-like vessels established in the corpus luteum of cows during luteolysis. J. Ovarian Res. 9:67. doi:10.1186/s13048-016-0277-0.

Niswender, G.D., T.L. Davis, R.J. Griffith, R.L. Bogan, K. Monser, R.C. Bott, J.E. Bruemmer, and T.M. Nett. 2007. Judge, jury and executioner: the auto-regulation of luteal function. Soc. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl. 64:191–206. doi:10.5661/rdr-vi-191.

Niswender, G.D., T. Reimers, M. Diekman, and T. Nett. 1976. Blood Flow: a mediator of ovarian function. Biol. Reprod. 14:64–81.

Northrop, E.J., J.J.J. Rich, R.A. Cushman, A.K. McNeel, É.M. Soares, K. Brooks, T.E. Spencer, and G.A. Perry. 2018. Effects of preovulatory estradiol on uterine environment and conceptus survival from fertilization to maternal recognition of pregnancy. Biol. Reprod. 99:629–638. doi:10.1093/biolre/ioy086.

NRC. 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. doi:10.1201/b11653.

O'Shea, J.D., D.G. Cran, and M.F. Hay. 1979. The small luteal cell of the sheep. Prostaglandins 17:239–251.

Ohtani, M., S. Kobayashi, A. Miyamoto, K. Hayashi, and Y. Fukui. 1998. Real-time relationships between intraluteal and plasma concentrations of endothelin, oxytocin, and progesterone during prostaglandin $F2\alpha$ -induced luteolysis in the cow. Biol. Reprod. 58:103–108. doi:10.1095/biolreprod58.1.103.

Okada-Ban, M., J.P. Thiery, and J. Jouanneau. 2000. Fibroblast growth factor-2. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 32:263–267. doi:10.1016/S1357-2725(99)00123-5.

Okuda, K., Y. Uenoyama, L.E.E. Kang Woo, R. Sakumoto, and D.J. Skarzynski. 1998. Progesterone stimulation by prostaglandin F2 α involves the protein kinase C pathway in cultured bovine luteal cells. J. Reprod. Dev. 44:79–84. doi:10.1262/jrd.44.79.

Okumu, L.A., N. Forde, A.G. Fahey, E. Fitzpatrick, J.F. Roche, M.A. Crowe, and P. Lonergan. 2010. The effect of elevated progesterone and pregnancy status on mRNA expression and localisation of progesterone and oestrogen receptors in the bovine uterus. Reproduction 140:143–153. doi:10.1530/REP-10-0113.

Palhão, M.P., A.C. Ribeiro, A.B. Martins, C.R.B. Guimarães, R.D. Alvarez, M.F. Seber, C.A.C. Fernandes, J.P. Neves, and J.H.M. Viana. 2020. Early resynchronization of non-pregnant beef cows based in corpus luteum blood flow evaluation 21 days after Timed-AI. Theriogenology 146:26–30. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2020.01.064.

Pate, J.L. 1995. Involvement of immune cells in regulation of ovarian function. J. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl. 49:365–377. doi:10.1530/biosciprocs.3.028.

Pate, J.L. 2003. Lives in the balance: responsiveness of the corpus luteum to uterine and embryonic signals. Reprod. Suppl. 61:207–217. doi:10.1530/biosciprocs.5.016.

Pate, J.L., C.J. Johnson-Larson, and J.S. Ottobre. 2012. Life or death decisions in the corpus luteum. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 47:297–303. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0531.2012.02089.x.

Pavoola, L.G. 1979. The corpus luteum of the guinea pig: IV. Fine structures of macrophages during pregnancy and postpartum luteolysis, and the phagocytosis of luteal cells. Am. J. Anat. 154:337–364. doi:10.1002/9780470718988.ch6.

Penny, L.A., D.G. Armstrong, G. Baxter, C. Hogg, H. Kindahl, T. Bramley, E.D. Watson, and R. Webb. 1998. Expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in the bovine corpus luteum around the time of natural luteolysis. Biol. Reprod. 59:1464–1469. doi:10.1095/biolreprod59.6.1464.

Pepperell, J.R., K. Wolcott, and H.R. Behrman. 1992. Effects of neutrophils in rat luteal cells. Endocrinology 130:1001–1008.

Perry, G.A., O.L. Swanson, E.L. Larimore, B.L. Perry, G.D. Djira, and R.A. Cushman. 2014. Relationship of follicle size and concentrations of estradiol among cows exhibiting or not exhibiting estrus during a fixed-time AI protocol. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 48:15–20. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2014.02.001.

Peterson, A.J., R.J. Fairclough, E. Payne, and J.F. Smith. 1975. Hormonal changes around bovine luteolysis. Prostaglandins 10:675–684. doi:10.1016/S0090-6980(75)80015-3.

Pierson, R.A., and O.J. Ginther. 1984. Ultrasonography of the bovine ovary. Theriogenology 21:495–504. doi:10.1016/0093-691X(84)90411-4.

Plaizier, J.C.B., G.J. King, J.C.M. Dekkers, and K. Lissemore. 1997. Estimation of economic values of indices for reproductive performance in dairy herds using computer simulation. J. Dairy Sci. 80:2775–2783. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(97)76240-4.

Poole, D.H., and J.L. Pate. 2012. Luteal microenvironment directs resident T lymphocyte function in cows. Biol. Reprod. 86:1–10. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.111.092296.

Pursley, J.R., M.R. Kosorok, and M.C. Wiltbank. 1997a. Reproductive management of lactating dairy cows using synchronization of ovulation. J. Dairy Sci. 80:301–306. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(97)75938-1.

Pursley, J.R., and J.P.N. Martins. 2012. Impact of circulating concentrations of progesterone and antral age of the ovulatory follicle on fertility of high-producing lactating dairy cows. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 24:267–271. doi:10.1071/RD11917.

Pursley, J.R., J.P.N. Martins, C. Wright, and N.D. Stewart. 2012. Compared to dinoprost tromethamine, cloprostenol sodium increased rates of estrus detection, conception and pregnancy in lactating dairy cows on a large commercial dairy. Theriogenology 78:823–829. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2012.03.032.

Pursley, J.R., M.O. Mee, and M.C. Wiltbank. 1995. Synchronization of ovulation in dairy cows using PGF2α and GnRH. Theriogenology 44:915–923. doi:10.1016/0093-691X(95)00279-H.

Pursley, J.R., R.W. Silcox, and M.C. Wiltbank. 1998. Effect of time of artificial insemination on pregnancy rates, calving rates, pregnancy loss, and gender ratio after synchronization of ovulation in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81:2139–2144. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)75790-X.

Pursley, J.R., J.S. Stevenson, and J.E. Minton. 1993. Ovarian Follicular Waves in Dairy Cows After Administration of Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone at Estrus. J. Dairy Sci. 76:2548–2560. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(93)77590-6.

Pursley, J.R., M.C. Wiltbank, J.S. Stevenson, J.S. Ottobre, H.A. Garverick, and L.L. Anderson. 1997b. Pregnancy rates per artificial insemination for cows and heifers inseminated at a synchronized ovulation or synchronized estrus. J. Dairy Sci. 80:295–300. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(97)75937-X.

Rahe, C.H., R.E. Owens, J.L. Fleeger, H.J. Newton, and P.G. Harms. 1980. Pattern of plasma luteinizing hormone in the cyclic cow: Dependence upon the period of the cycle. Endocrinology 107:498–503. doi:10.1210/endo-107-2-498.

Reeves, P.R. 1978. Distribution, elimination, and residue studies in the cow with the synthetic prostaglandin estrumate. J. Agric. Food Chem. 26:152–155. doi:10.1021/jf60215a001.

Revah, I., and W. Butler. 1996. Pronlonged dominance of follicles and reduced viability of bovine oocytes. J. Reprod. Fertil. 106:39–47.

Reynolds, L.P., A.T. Grazul-Bilska, S.D. Killilea, and D.A. Redmer. 1994. Mitogenic factors of corpora lutea. Prog. Growth Factor Res. 5:159–175. doi:10.1016/0955-2235(94)90003-5.

Reynolds, L.P., A.T. Grazul-Bilska, and D.A. Redmer. 2000. Angiogenesis in the corpus luteum. Endocrine 12:1–9. doi:10.1385/endo:12:1:1.

Reynolds, L.P., and D.A. Redmer. 1998. Expression of the angiogenic factors, basic fibroblast growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor, in the ovary. J. Anim. Sci. 76:1671–1681. doi:10.2527/1998.7661671x.

Roberson, M.S., M.W. Wolfe, T.T. Stumpf, R.J. Kittok, and J.E. Kinder. 1989. Luteinizing hormone secretion and corpus luteum function in cows receiving two levels of progesterone. Biol. Reprod. 41:997–1003. doi:10.1095/biolreprod41.6.997.

Robinson, R.S., G.E. Mann, G.E. Lamming, and D.C. Wathes. 2001. Expression of oxytocin, oestrogen and progesterone receptors in uterine biopsy samples throughout the oestrous cycle and early pregnancy in cows. Reproduction 122:965–979. doi:10.1530/rep.0.1220965.

de Sá Filho, M.F., A.M. Gonella-Diaza, M. Sponchiado, M.F. Mendanha, G. Pugliesi, R. dos S. Ramos, S.C. da S. Andrade, G. Gasparin, L.L. Coutinho, M.D. Goissis, F.S. Mesquita, P.S. Baruselli, and M. Binelli. 2017. Impact of hormonal modulation at proestrus on ovarian responses and uterine gene expression of suckled anestrous beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 8:79. doi:10.1186/s40104-017-0211-3.

Santos, J.E.P., C.D. Narciso, F. Rivera, W.W. Thatcher, and R.C. Chebel. 2010. Effect of reducing the period of follicle dominance in a timed artificial insemination protocol on reproduction of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93:2976–2988. doi:10.3168/jds.2009-2870.

Sartori, R., P.M. Fricke, J.C.P. Ferreira, O.J. Ginther, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2001. Follicular deviation and acquisition of ovulatory capacity in bovine follicles. Biol. Reprod. 65:1403–1409. doi:10.1095/biolreprod65.5.1403.

Sartori, R., J.M. Haughian, R.D. Shaver, G.J.M. Rosa, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2004. Comparison of ovarian function and circulating steroids in estrous cycles of Holstein heifers and lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 87:905–920. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73235-X.

Savio, J.D., L. Keenan, M.P. Boland, and J.F. Roche. 1988. Pattern of growth of dominant follicles during the oestrous cycle of heifers. J. Reprod. Fertil. 83:663–671. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0830663.

Savio, J.D., W.W. Thatcher, L. Badinga, R.L. De la Sota, and D. Wolfenson. 1993. Regulation of dominant follicle turnover during the oestrous cycle in cows. J. Reprod. Fertil. 97:197–203. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0970197.

Schallenberger, E., D. Schams, B. Bullermann, and D.L. Walters. 1984. Pulsatile secretion of gonadotrophins, ovarian steroids and ovarian oxytocin during prostaglandin-induced regression of the corpus luteum in the cow. J. Reprod. Fertil. 71:493–501. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0710493.

Schallenberger, E., A.M. Schöndorger, and D.L. Walters. 1985. Gonadotrophins and ovarian steroids in cattle: I. Pulsatile changes of concentrarions in the jugular vein throughout the oestrous cycle. Acta Endocrinol. 108:312–321.

Schams, D., E. Schallenberger, B. Hoffmann, and H. Karg. 1977. The oestrous cycle of the cow: hormonal parameters and time relationships concerning oestrus, ovulation, and electrical resistance of the vaginal mucus. Acta Endocrinol. (Copenh). 86:180–192.

Shaw, D.W., and J.H. Britt. 2000. In vivo oxytocin release from microdialyzed bovine corpora lutea during spontaneous and prostaglandin-induced regression. Biol. Reprod. 62:726–730. doi:10.1095/biolreprod62.3.726.

Shemesh, M., and W. Hansel. 1975. Arachidonic acid and bovine corpus luteum function. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 148:243–246.

Shimizu, T., S. Krebs, S. Bauersachs, H. Blum, E. Wolf, and A. Miyamoto. 2010. Actions and interactions of progesterone and estrogen on transcriptome profiles of the bovine endometrium. Physiol. Genomics 42:290–300. doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.00107.2010.

Shirasuna, K., T. Asahi, M. Sasaki, T. Shimizu, and A. Miyamoto. 2010. Distribution of arteriolovenous vessels, capillaries and eNOS expression in the bovine corpus luteum during the estrous cycle: A possible implication of different sensitivity by luteal phase to PGF2 α in the increase of luteal blood flow. J. Reprod. Dev. 56:124–130. doi:10.1262/jrd.09-106O.

Shirasuna, K., H. Asaoka, T.J. Acosta, M.P.B. Wijayagunawardane, M. Ohtani, M. Hayashi, M. Matsui, and A. Miyamoto. 2004. Real-time relationships in intraluteal release among prostaglandin F2 α , endothelin-1, and angiotensin II during spontaneous luteolysis in the cow. Biol. Reprod. 71:1706–1711. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.104.030270.

Shirasuna, K., S. Jiemtaweeboon, S. Raddatz, A. Nitta, H.J. Schuberth, H. Bollwein, T. Shimizu, and A. Miyamoto. 2012. Rapid accumulation of polymorphonuclear neutrophils in the Corpus luteum during prostaglandin F 2α -induced luteolysis in the cow. PLoS One 7:e29054. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0029054.

Shirasuna, K., S. Watanabe, T. Asahi, M.P.B. Wijayagunawardane, K. Sasahara, C. Jiang, M. Matsui, M. Sasaki, T. Shimizu, J.S. Davis, and A. Miyamoto. 2008. Prostaglandin F2 α increases endothelial nitric oxide synthase in the periphery of the bovine corpus luteum: The possible regulation of blood flow at an early stage of luteolysis. Reproduction 135:527–539. doi:10.1530/REP-07-0496.

Shrestha, H.K., M.A. Beg, M.A.R. Siddiqui, and O.J. Ginther. 2010. Dynamic progesterone responses to simulation of a natural pulse of a metabolite of prostaglandin F2 α in heifers. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 118:118–123. doi:10.1016/j.anireprosci.2009.06.021.

Siqueira, L.G., E.K. Arashiro, A.M. Ghetti, E.D. Souza, L.F. Feres, L.F. Pfeifer, J.F. Fonseca, and J.H. Viana. 2019. Vascular and morphological features of the corpus luteum 12 to 20 days after timed artificial insemination in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 102:5612–5622. doi:10.3168/jds.2018-15853.

Sirois, J., and J.E. Fortune. 1990. Lengthening the bovine estrous cycle with low levels of exogenous progesterone: A model for studying ovarian follicular dominance. Endocrinology 127:916–925. doi:10.1210/endo-127-2-916.

Skarzynski, D., K. Piotrowska-Tomala, K. Lukasik, A. Galvão, S. Farberov, Y. Zalman, and R. Meidan. 2013. Growth and regression in bovine corpora lutea: Regulation by local survival and death pathways. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 48:25–37. doi:10.1111/rda.12203.

Skarzynski, D.J., J.J. Jaroszewski, M.M. Bah, K.M. Deptula, B. Barszczewska, B. Gawronska, and W. Hansel. 2003. Administration of a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor counteracts prostaglandin F2-induced luteolysis in cattle. Biol. Reprod. 68:1674–1681. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.102.008573.

Skarzynski, D.J., S. Kobayashi, and K. Okuda. 2000. Influence of nitric oxide and noradrenaline on prostaglandin F2 α -induced oxytocin secretion and intracellular calcium mobilization in cultured bovine luteal cells. Biol. Reprod. 63:1000–1005. doi:10.1095/biolreprod63.4.1000.

Slotta, K.H., H. Ruschig, and E. Fels. 1934. Reindarstellung der Hormone aus dem Corpus luteum (Vorläuf. Mitteil.). Berichte der Dtsch. Chem. Gesellschaft (A B Ser. 67:1624–1626. doi:10.1002/cber.19340670729.

Souza, A.H., H. Ayres, R.M. Ferreira, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2008. A new presynchronization system (Double-Ovsynch) increases fertility at first postpartum timed AI in lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology 70:208–215. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2008.03.014.

Souza, A.H., A. Gümen, E.P.B. Silva, A.P. Cunha, J.N. Guenther, C.M. Peto, D.Z. Caraviello, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2007. Supplementation with estradiol- 17β before the last gonadotropin-releasing hormone injection of the ovsynch protocol in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90:4623–4634. doi:10.3168/jds.2007-0172.

Spanel-Borowski, K. 2011. Five different phenotypes of endothelial cell cultures from the bovine corpus luteum: Present outcome and role of potential dendritic cells in luteolysis. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 338:38–45. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2011.02.021.

Stevenson, J.S. 2012. What's the best timed A.I. program?. Hoard's Dairym. Reproduction E-source.

Stevenson, J.S. 2016. Physiological predictors of ovulation and pregnancy risk in a fixed-time artificial insemination program. J. Dairy Sci. 99:10077–10092. doi:10.3168/jds.2016-11247.

Stevenson, J.S., and J.R. Pursley. 1994. Use of milk progesterone and prostaglandin F2 α in a scheduled artificial insemination program. J. Dairy Sci. 77:1755–1760. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)77116-2.

Stirling, D., R.R. Magness, R. Stone, M.R. Waterman, and E.R. Simpson. 1990. Angiotensin II inhibits luteinizing hormone-stimulated cholesterol side chain cleavage expression and stimulates basic fibroblast growth factor expression in bovine luteal cells in primary culture. J. Biol. Chem. 265:5–8.

Stirling, D., M.R. Waterman, and E.R. Simpson. 1991. Expression of mRNA encoding basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) in bovine corpora lutea and cultured luteal cells. J. Reprod. Fertil. 91:1–8. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0910001.

Tanaka, J., T.J. Acosta, B. Berisha, M. Tetsuka, M. Matsui, S. Kobayashi, D. Schams, and A. Miyamoto. 2004. Relative changes in mRNA expression of angiopoietins and receptors tie in bovine corpus luteum during estrous cycle and prostaglandin F 2α -induced luteolysis: A possible mechanism for the initiation of luteal regression. J. Reprod. Dev. 50:619–626. doi:10.1262/jrd.50.619.

Thatcher, W.W. 2017. A 100-Year Review: Historical development of female reproductive physiology in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 100:10272–10291. doi:10.3168/jds.2017-13399.

Townson, D.H., and J.L. Pate. 1996. Mechanism of action of TNF-α-stimulated prostaglandin production in cultured bovine luteal cells. Prostaglandins 52:361–373. doi:10.1016/S0090-6980(96)00104-9.

Trevisol, E., J.C. Ferreira, C.L. Ackermann, F.C. Destro, W.C. Marques Filho, A.S. Carmagos, M.V. Biehl, J.B. do Amaral, J.C. de Figueiredo Pantoja, R. Sartori, and J.C.P. Ferreira. 2015. Luteal changes after treatment with sub-luteolytic doses of prostaglandin (cloprostenol sodium) in cattle. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 153:8–12. doi:10.1016/j.anireprosci.2014.12.005.

Tsai, S.-J., and M.C. Wiltbank. 1998. Prostaglandin F2α regulates distinct physiological changes in early and mid-cycle bovine corpora lutea. Biol. Reprod. 58:346–352. doi:10.1095/biolreprod58.2.346.

Vasconcelos, J.L.M., R.W. Silcox, G.J.M. Rosa, J.R. Pursley, and M.C. Wiltbank. 1999. Synchronization rate, size of the ovulatory follicle, and pregnancy rate after synchronization of ovulation beggining on different days of the estrous cycle in lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology 52:1067–1078.

Veler, C.D., S. Thayer, and E.A. Doisy. 1930. The preparation of the crystalline follicular ovarian hormone: Theelin. J. Biol. Chem. 87:357–371.
Vonnahme, K.A., D.A. Redmer, E. Borowczyk, J.J. Bilski, J.S. Luther, M.L. Johnson, L.P. Reynolds, and A.T. Grazul-Bilska. 2006. Vascular composition, apoptosis, and expression of angiogenic factors in the corpus luteum during prostaglandin F2 α -induced regression in sheep. Reproduction 131:1115–1126. doi:10.1530/rep.1.01062.

Wallace, R.M., K.G. Pohler, M.F. Smith, and J.A. Green. 2015. Placental PAGs: Gene origins, expression patterns, and use as markers of pregnancy. Reproduction 149:R115–R126. doi:10.1530/REP-14-0485.

Walters, D.L., and E. Schallenberger. 1984. Pulsatile secretion of gonadotrophins, ovarian steroids and ovarian oxytocin during the periovulatory phase of the oestrous cycle in the cow. J. Reprod. Fertil. 71:503–512. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0710503.

Washburn, S.P., W.J. Silvia, C.H. Brown, B.T. McDaniel, and A.J. McAllister. 2002. Trends in reproductive performance in Southeastern Holstein and Jersey DHI herds. J. Dairy Sci. 85:244–251. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74073-3.

Wathes, D.C., G.E. Mann, J.H. Payne, P.R. Riley, K.R. Stevenson, and G.E. Lamming. 1996. Regulation of oxytocin, oestradiol and progesterone receptor concentrations in different uterine regions by oestradiol, progesterone and oxytocin in ovariectomized ewes. J. Endocrinol. 151:375– 393. doi:10.1677/joe.0.1510375.

Wegner, J.A., R. Martinez-Zaguilan, R.J. Gillies, and P.B. Hoyer. 1991. Prostaglandin F2 alphainduced calcium transient in ovine large luteal cells: ii. modulation of the transient and resting cytosolic free calcium alters progesterone secretion. Endocrinology 128:929–936. doi:10.14894/faruawpsj.7.10_726.

Wiltbank, J.N., and L.E. Casida. 1956. Alteration of ovarian activity by hysterectomy. J. Anim. Sci. 15:134–140.

Wiltbank, M.C., G.M. Baez, F. Cochrane, R. V. Barletta, C.R. Trayford, and R.T. Joseph. 2015. Effect of a second treatment with prostaglandin F2α during the Ovsynch protocol on luteolysis and pregnancy in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:8644–8654. doi:10.3168/jds.2015-9353.

Wiltbank, M.C., G.M. Baez, A. Garcia-Guerra, M.Z. Toledo, P.L.J. Monteiro, L.F. Melo, J.C. Ochoa, J.E.P. Santos, and R. Sartori. 2016. Pivotal periods for pregnancy loss during the first trimester of gestation in lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology 86:239–253. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2016.04.037.

Wiltbank, M.C., M.G. Diskin, and G.D. Niswender. 1991. Differential actions of second messenger systems in the corpus luteum. J. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl. 43:65–75. doi:10.1530/biosciprocs.2.006.

Wiltbank, M.C., R.C. Dysko, K.P. Gallagher, and P.L. Keyes. 1988. Relationship between blood flow and steroidogenesis in the rabbit corpus luteum. J. Reprod. Fertil. 84:513–520. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0840513.

Wiltbank, M.C., A. Gümen, and R. Sartori. 2002. Physiological classification of anovulatory conditions in cattle. Theriogenology 57:21–52.

Wiltbank, M.C., P.B. Guthrie, M.P. Mattson, S.B. Kater, and G.D. Niswender. 1989. Hormonal regulation of free intracellular calcium concentrations in small and large ovine luteal cells. Biol. Reprod. 41:771–778.

Wiltbank, M.C., and J.R. Pursley. 2014. The cow as an induced ovulator: Timed AI after
synchronization of ovulation. Theriogenology 81:170–185.
doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2013.09.017.

Wiltbank, M.C., R. Sartori, M.M. Herlihy, J.L.M. Vasconcelos, A.B. Nascimento, A.H. Souza, H. Ayres, A.P. Cunha, A. Keskin, J.N. Guenther, and A. Gumen. 2011a. Managing the dominant follicle in lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology 76:1568–1582. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2011.08.012.

Wiltbank, M.C., R. Sartori, M.M. Herlihy, J.L.M. Vasconcelos, A.B. Nascimento, A.H. Souza, H. Ayres, A.P. Cunha, A. Keskin, J.N. Guenther, and A. Gümen. 2011b. Managing the dominant follicle in lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology 76:1568–1582. doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2011.08.012.

Wiltbank, M.C., T.F. Shiao, D.R. Bergfelt, and O.J. Ginther. 1995. Prostaglandin F2α receptors in the early bovine corpus luteum. Biol. Reprod. 52:74–78. doi:10.1095/biolreprod52.1.74.

Yamashita, H., D. Kamada, K. Shirasuna, M. Matsui, T. Shimizu, K. Kida, B. Berisha, D. Schams, and A. Miyamoto. 2008. Effect of local neutralization of basic fibroblast growth factor or vascular endothelial growth factor by a specific antibody on the development of the corpus luteum in the cow. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 75:1449–1456. doi:10.1002/mrd.20878.

Yancopoulos, G.D., S. Davis, N.W. Gale, J.S. Rudge, S.J. Wiegand, and J. Holash. 2000. Vascular-specific growth factors and blood vessel formation. Nature 407:242–248. doi:10.1038/35025215.

Zheng, J., D.A. Redmer, and L.P. Reynolds. 1993. Vascular development and heparin-binding growth factors in the bovine corpus luteum at several stages of the estrous cycle. Biol. Reprod. 49:1177–1189. doi:10.1095/biolreprod49.6.1177.